

European Region

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the daily routine and behaviours of school-aged children in Europe: RESULTS FROM 17 MEMBER STATES

2021-2023: REPORT







The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the daily routine and behaviours of school-aged children in Europe:

RESULTS FROM 17 MEMBER STATES

2021-2023: REPORT



The WHO Regional Office for Europe established the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) in 2007 in response to the need for standardized surveillance data on the prevalence of overweight and obesity among school-aged children. The availability of such information is essential to develop effective policies and strategies to tackle childhood obesity in the WHO European Region.

The sixth data collection round of COSI involves 37 Member States and data collection is still ongoing in some of these. This report presents the results from the 13 States that collected information during the 2021–2022 school year on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children's health, and four that collected information during the 2022–2023 school year.

The findings of this research on the pandemic's consequences are extremely important for participating Member States to help prepare for the future.

Keywords

EUROPE CHILD OBESITY OVERWEIGHT PUBLIC HEALTH SURVEILLANCE COVID-19

Document number: XXX

© World Health Organization 2024

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for noncommercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition: The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the daily routine and behaviours of school-aged children in Europe: results from 17 Member States. 2021–2023: report. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2024".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization(http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the daily routine and behaviours of school-aged children in Europe: results from 17 Member States. 2021–2023: report. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2024. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters. All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Acknowledgements	IV
Abbreviations	VII
Executive summary	.VIII
Introduction	1
1. Methodology	4
1.1 Study design, site and setting	4
1.2 Data collection	6
1.3 Data management	6
2. Children's demographic characteristics, family socioeconomic status	7
2.1 Children's demographic obstactoristics	<i>1</i>
2.2 Comite en suemographic characterístics	، م
2.2 COVID 10 infection	0
	10
3. Eating behaviours	17
3.1 Children's eating behaviours	17
3.2 Family consumption behaviours in weekly routines	28
3.3 Children's consumption of meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services	42
4. Sleep patterns, physical activity and sedentary behaviours	46
4.1 Children's sleep patterns	46
4.2 Time spent playing actively/vigorously	49
4.3 Sedentary recreational screen time	52
4.4 Time spent learning at home	55
5. Parents' perception of their children's weight status	57
5.1 Parents' perception of their children's weight status	57
6. Children's quality of life and well-being	59
6.1 Children's quality of life and well-being	59
Osnahusian	70
CONCIUSIÓN	79
References	81

Acknowledgements

This report was made possible through the support and commitment of the Principal Investigators of the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) and their colleagues. Special thanks are also due to the data collectors, school officials, parents/caregivers and children who participated in the survey. The Special Initiative on Noncommunicable Diseases and Innovation (SNI) also wishes to thank the Member States of the WHO European Region for their support, leadership and commitment to this initiative. Thanks are extended for the support of the WHO Office for Prevention and Control of NCDs between the years of 2021 and 2023, which enabled this report. Overall technical oversight of the initiative was provided by Kremlin Wickramasinghe and Ivo Rakovac (WHO Regional Office for Europe, Denmark). The main authors of this report were Ana Isabel Rito (National Institute of Health Doutor Ricardo Jorge; WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition and Childhood Obesity, Portugal) and Marta Buoncristiano, Mirjam Heinen and Julianne Williams (WHO Regional Office for Europe, Denmark). The SNI acknowledges the contribution of the COSI Principal Investigators who shared data, extensive knowledge, text and comments on the report. The SNI also sincerely thanks Gerben Rienk (Trial Data Solutions, Kingdom of the Netherlands) for data management.

Contributors

Principal Investigators and collaborators for COSI

Collecting data, Member State-level management, contributing comments to the report and reviewing the final draft.

Albania

Jolanda Hyska, Ervin Toçi, Institute of Public Health, University of Medicine, Tirana.

Azerbaijan

Nabil Seyidov, Public Health and Reforms Centre of the Ministry of Health.

Bulgaria

Vesselka Duleva, Ekaterina Chikova-Iscener, National Centre of Public Health and Analysis.

Croatia

Sanja Musić Milanović, University of Zagreb; Croatian Institute of Public Health. Helena Križan, Dora Bukal, Sanja Meštrić, Maja Lang Morović, Croatian Institute of Public Health.

Cyprus

Eliza Markidou Ioannidou, Ministry of Health. Elpidoforos Soteriades, Open University of Cyprus.

Georgia

Natia Kakutia, Lela Sturua and Vera Gegenava, National Centre for Disease Control and Public Health of Georgia.

Italy

Silvia Ciardullo, Angela Spinelli, Paola Nardone, Silvia Andreozzi and Angela Giusti, National Centre for Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Italian National Institute of Health [Istituto Superiore di Sanità] (WHO Collaborating Centre on Childhood Obesity).

Kazakhstan (Almaty)

Shynar Abdrakhmanova, National Centre of Public Health of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Kazakhstan School of Public Health.

Malta

Lorraine Tabone, Primary Health Care.

Montenegro

Enisa Kujundzic and Borko Bajic, Institute of Public Health of Montenegro.

Poland

Anna Fijalkowska, Anna Dzielska, Institute of Mother and Child.

Portugal

Ana Rito, WHO Collaborating Centre for Nutrition and Childhood Obesity, National Institute of Health Dr Ricardo Jorge.

Ana Dinis, Carla Rascôa, Elsa Feliciano, Maria do Carmo Faria, Rita Carvalho, Rosa Silvério, Susana Cardoso and Teresa Sofia Sancho; Regional Directorates of Health – National Health Service.

Republic of Moldova

Maria-Victoria Racu, National Agency for Public Health. Cociu Svetlana, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Nicolae Testemiteanu.

Romania

Constanta Huidumac-Petrescu, National Institute of Public Health.

Alexandra Cucu, Lacramioara Brinduse, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Carol Davila Bucharest, National Institute of Public Health.

San Marino

Andrea Gualtieri, Elena Sacchini, Health Authority.

Slovakia

Ľubica Tichá, Paediatric Department, Medical Faculty of Comenius University, National Institute of Children's Diseases.

Daniela Kallayová, Department of Public Health, Screening and Prevention, Ministry of Health. Jana Hamade, Public Health Authority.

Türkiye

Mustafa Kemal Başaralı, Melek Atabey, General Directorate of Public Health.

Uzbekistan

Akhmedova Dilorom, Nilufar Akhmedova and Artur Popenkov, Republican Specialized Scientific Practical Medical Centre of Paediatrics.

Other contributors

Wolfgang Ahrens, Leibniz Institute for Prevention Research and Epidemiology, Bremen-Germany; WHO Collaborating Centre for Obesity Prevention, Nutrition and Physical Activity – scientific advice on the design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Inês Figueira, Centre for Studies and Research in Social Dynamics and Health (CEIDSS), Portugal – design of the study protocol, external report drafting and reviewer.

Viktoria Kovacs, Hungarian School Sport Federation, Budapest, Hungary – scientific advice on the design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Tim Lobstein, World Obesity Federation- scientific advice on the design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Sofia Mendes, Centre for Studies and Research in Social Dynamics and Health (CEIDSS), Portugal – design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Cassie Redlich, Mental Health Flagship, WHO Regional Office for Europe – reviewer report.

Harry Rutter, University of Bath, United Kingdom – scientific advice on the design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Angela Spinelli, Italian National Institute of Health [Istituto Superiore di Sanità] (WHO Collaborating Centre on Childhood) – scientific advice on the design of the study protocol; reviewer report.

Data collection in participating Member States was carried out with financial support from the following institutions and organizations: **Albania:** Institute of Public Health of Albania and United Nations Children's Fund; **Azerbaijan:** Ministry of Health of Azerbaijan Republic; **Bulgaria:** Ministry of Health, National Centre of Public Health and Analyses; **Croatia:** Ministry of Health and Croatian Institute of Public Health; **Cyprus:** Ministry of Health Cyprus (Dietetic Department); **Georgia:** National Centre for Disease Control and Public Health of Georgia; **Italy:** Italian National Institute of Health; **Kazakhstan:** State educational grant for PhD study; **Malta:** Ministry of Health; **Montenegro:** Institute of Public Health of Montenegro; **Poland:** National Health Programme, Ministry of Health; **Portugal:** Ministry of Health Institutions, the National Institute of Health, National Health Service - Regional Health Directorates and the kind technical support of the Centre for Studies and Research in Social Dynamics and Health (CEIDSS); **Republic of Moldova:** National Agency for Public Health; **Romania:** Ministry of Health, National Institute of Public Health; **San Marino:** Health Ministry, Educational Ministry, Social Security Institute and Health Authority; **Slovakia:** Ministry of Health and Public Health and the World Bank.

The report was produced with additional financial support from a grant from the Russian Federation Government through the context of the WHO European Office for Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases.

Abbreviations

AVG	average value resulting from pooled analysis
COSI	Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative
COVID-19	coronavirus disease-2019
NCD	noncommunicable disease
SARS-CoV-2	severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SNI	Special Initiative on NCDs and Innovation

International Standards Organization (ISO) 3-digit codes for Member States of the WHO European Region for Member States included in the report¹

Country code	Country name
ALB	Albania
AZE	Azerbaijan
BGR	Bulgaria
СҮР	Cyprus
GEO	Georgia
HRV	Croatia
ITA	Italy
KAZ	Kazakhstan
MDA	Republic of Moldova
MLT	Malta
MNE	Montenegro
POL	Poland
PRT	Portugal
ROU	Romania
SMR	San Marino
SVK	Slovakia
UZB	Uzbekistan

¹This report uses a standardized code system for Member States to align with other international reports. This is different from the codes used in previous Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative reports and publications.

Executive summary

Overweight and obesity among children remains one of the major public health challenges facing the WHO European Region. As well as affecting a child's immediate physical and mental health, educational potential and quality of life, unhealthy body weight in early life can increase the risk of obesity and noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) later in life. Tackling obesity – including childhood obesity – is vital for achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals and for implementation of the WHO European Programme of Work 2020–2025 – "United Action for Better Health".

In order to generate reliable and valid Member State-level data on the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school-aged children, the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) was established in 2007. The COSI initiative allows systematic collection of data on the measured weight status of children aged 7–9 years and on dietary intake, physical activity, sedentary behaviour, family background and school environment.

Over 2020 and 2021, governments worldwide implemented containment measures to curb the spread of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) virus, such as periods of restricted movements, social distancing, self-isolation, mask mandates, school and public space closures. These measures disrupted daily life for families globally and had profound impacts on children and adolescents' daily routines, health and well-being.

Considering the negative effects of COVID-19 on mental health, physical activity and eating behaviours among children and adolescents, it is important to better understand the impact of the pandemic on children's daily routines and behaviours, particularly with the epidemic of childhood obesity and other chronic diseases in the long-term. This report presents the main results of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (2020–2022; referred to hereafter as "the pandemic") on children's daily routines, well-being, eating behaviours, physical activity and perception of the weight status, which was collected by 17 Member States.

Regarding children's eating behaviours, on average, for all items, consumption remained unchanged for most children (70–80%). While healthy foods such as fresh fruits and vegetables were consumed more rather than less frequently during the pandemic period in most of the Member States, unhealthy foods such as savoury snacks and sweets, showed also higher consumption during the pandemic period. Conversely, any change in the frequency of consumption of soft drinks with sugar was observed to be a decrease rather than an increase. A similar pattern was observed for eating fish; while meat consumption and consumption of breakfast cereals did not show a prevailing change. Dairy products were consumed more frequently during the pandemic period.

The study investigated also how family consumption behaviours in a weekly routine have changed during the pandemic compared with prior. Overall, the percentage of families that did not report any change varies among behaviours, ranging from 46–77%. The behaviours that were observed to have had the highest increases during the pandemic were "eating home-cooked meals" (30%), "eating together as a family" (29%), "cooking meals together with your child" (26%) and "buying food in large quantities" (28%). One in five families reported an increase in "planning purchases and meals in advance". Conversely "eating meals prepared outside of the home" as well as "eating ready-to-eat meals" decreased in all Member States, varying between 15% and 57%. And approximately one in five families reported a decrease in "buying foods in super- or hypermarkets" and in "buying online grocery shopping".

Regarding the frequency of consumption of meals ordered via applications and/or other online delivery services by children, there were no major changes during the pandemic, with around 75% consuming these meals less than once a month or not at all in either period.

Sleep patterns remained the same for most children during the pandemic. If a change occurred, an increase was observed more frequently than a decrease; on average, 15% of children increased sleep time on weekdays and 17% on weekends.

When asked whether the time children spent outside school hours playing actively or vigorously changed when pandemic restrictions were in place, one in two parents reported that, on average, their children spent an equal amount of time on these activities, while decreased time spent was observed on weekdays for 28% of children and on weekends for 23%.

On average, for sedentary behaviours, 36% of children increased time spent watching TV, playing video/ computer games or using social media for non-educational purposes on weekdays, and 34% on weekends during the pandemic. The percentage of children who decreased their recreational screen time was much smaller, below 10%.

Parents were asked how they perceived their children's weight status both during and before the pandemic period: as underweight, normal weight, a little overweight or extremely overweight. Over the period, the percentage of children perceived as normal weight dropped from 82–73%, whereas those perceived as overweight doubled, from 8–16%.

The study investigated how the emergence of the pandemic and its restrictive measures impacted on children's well-being by investigating parents' perceptions regarding a set of 10 specific behaviours and feelings that children exhibited during both the pandemic and the pre-pandemic period separately. For most of the investigated behaviours and feelings, the situation worsened more than improved. Overall, most Member States reported a general worsening in the perceived well-being of their children, with different intensities.

On average, according to parent's perceptions, the capacity for having fun with friends worsened for 42% of children, observed in ways such as the ability to enjoy activities in a child's free time (27%) or reporting "having enough time for him/herself" (19%). Perceived sadness was also more frequent in the pandemic period for one out of five children (20%), although still most parents never or seldomly reported that their children were feeling this way (82%). Perceived loneliness was also experienced more frequently by one out of four children (24%). One in four children were perceived by their parents as feeling fit and well less frequently. The same pattern also emerged concerning feeling full of energy. Observed capacity to pay attention worsened in 23% of children, and so-called "getting on well" or basic coping at school was also reported by parents as being reduced during the pandemic.

Regarding perceived family wealth, the majority of families observed (55%) were able to survive a month comfortably or without serious problems with their earnings during the pandemic; however, an increase was observed in the number of families that reported having difficulty making ends meet each month with their earnings (from 13% before the pandemic period, to 18% during) and barely making ends meet each month (from 5-9%). On average, during the pandemic parents' employment status also changed, with a decrease in parents working either full- or part-time, between 52-44% among mothers and 70-62% among fathers ("parent", "father" or "mother", in the context of parental employment and having COVID-19, includes the following: (step) mothers, (step) fathers and/or their partners). Overall, 22% of children, of mothers and 26% of fathers tested positive for COVID-19. These observations underscore the need to "build back better" post-pandemic with a focus on preventing and controlling obesity, particularly in children. Addressing childhood obesity requires a comprehensive approach that promotes healthy diets and ample physical activity for both early childhood and school-aged children, as well as preconception, pregnancy care and weight management programmes where necessary. Obesity prevention and management necessitates multisectoral policies and actions implemented through a coordinated whole-of-society approach with a range of ministries and partnerships. WHO has identified a range of policy options that include structural, fiscal, and regulatory actions aimed at creating healthy environments, namely marketing restrictions on unhealthy products, nutrition labelling policies (including front-of-pack labelling), fiscal policies (including taxes and subsidies), public food procurement and reformulation policies as well as school-based policies to improving diet and physical activity. A wholeof-society approach also requires actions at subnational and local levels and can include collaboration with the community and organizations working towards a common goal. These options are detailed in the WHO European 2022 Obesity Report and the WHO Acceleration Plan to Stop Obesity 2023.

The Special Initiative on NCDs and Innovation (SNI) is committed to supporting Member States in taking comprehensive, integrated, multisectoral action to halt the rise of childhood obesity in the Region. It is also essential to use the lessons learned from this study to prepare for future pandemics and emergencies in the region and safeguard children's health data from the COSI project is crucial to defining the problem of obesity, informing action, drawing comparisons between Member States and tracking progress over time.

Introduction

Childhood obesity is a major public health problem in the WHO European Region. In recent years, a plateau in reduction has been observed in some Member States, but levels remain high (1-3). As well as affecting children's immediate physical and mental health, educational potential and quality of life, unhealthy body weight in early life can increase the risk of obesity and NCDs in later life (2). Tackling obesity – including childhood obesity – is vital for the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals and for implementation of the WHO European Programme of Work 2020–2025 – "United Action for Better Health" (4). This is also reflected in the vision of the Special Initiative on NCDs and Innovation, which supports Member States in their efforts to reduce avoidable NCDs in the population. It champions both immediate changes to progress towards the NCD-related Sustainable Development Goal commitments for 2030 ("race to the finish") and promoting key generational shifts required to address NCDs within the permacrisis of war, climate change, pandemic and beyond.

The year of 2020 was affected by a global pandemic caused by SARS-CoV-2, which was declared a Public Health Emergency of International Concern on 30 January 2020 by WHO and characterized as a pandemic on 11 March 2020 (5). Over 2020 and 2021, governments worldwide implemented containment measures to curb the spread of the virus, such as periods of restricted movements, social distancing, self-isolation, mask mandates, school and public space closures (6). Throughout Europe, the severity and timing of containment measures have varied from Member State to Member State (7). These measures disrupted daily life for families globally and had profound impacts on children and adolescents' daily routines, health and well-being (8–13).

Childhood and adolescence are critical stages of life for mental health and well-being (14). As a result of the pandemic, restrictive measures were put in place and important and urgent inquiries arose regarding potential impact on education, social relationships, health, the growth environment and on the intellectual, physical and emotional development of children and adolescents (15). Multiple studies reported symptoms of depression, anxiety, anger, irritability, psychological distress, boredom and fear among young people due to COVID-19 restrictions (16,17). School closures and home quarantine contributed to loneliness and negative emotional behaviours in children (16,18).

Regular physical activity is important for the prevention of NCDs and their associated risk factors including overweight and obesity. It is associated with improved mental health, quality of life and wellbeing (19,20). Physical activity is important for children to ensure healthy growth and development and is associated with many health benefits including improved physical fitness, reduced adiposity, cognitive outcomes and cardiometabolic, bone and mental health (21,22). Higher amounts of sedentary behaviour are associated with poor health outcomes such as increased adiposity, poorer cardiometabolic health and fitness, conduct/pro-social behaviour and reduced sleep duration (23).

According to the results on children's physical activity and sedentary behaviours of the fifth round of COSI, conducted between 2018 and 2020, a large (87%) majority of 6–9-year-olds spent at least one hour a day on average in active or vigorous play. However, four in 10 children did not spend any time doing sports or dancing and only 41% of 6–9-year-old children travelled to and from school actively (24). Regarding sedentary behaviour, 43% of children aged 6–9 years spent at least two hours a day on average watching television or using electronic devices.

The Pandemic and its restrictions disrupted physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep patterns among children and adolescents (10,11). Outdoor activity restrictions and the closure of school and recreational facilities limited opportunities for maintaining an active and healthy lifestyle (25,26), exacerbating current public health problems related to low physical activity levels and high prevalence of sedentary behaviours (27,28).

Establishing good nutrition behaviours early in life is another important aspect of promoting children's long-term health and decreasing the risk of childhood obesity (29,30). The latest results on children's eating behaviours from the fifth round of COSI revealed that overall, less than half (43%) of 6–9-year-old children consumed fresh fruit daily, and more than one in 10 (11%) did not eat vegetables at all or did so

less than once a week (24). Additionally, almost a quarter (22%) of the children consumed soft drinks on more than three days a week. Some studies showed that the pandemic had mixed effects on children and adolescents' eating pattern, contributing to changes in their dietary behaviours (31,32).

The pandemic has also had major negative impacts on the worldwide economy, with families experiencing job losses and financial instability (33). Households' disposable income in the European Union was significantly affected by the pandemic, with lower income households being more severely hit (34). This may lead to increased poverty and disrupted access to food, which has been linked with numerous adverse individual and public health outcomes (35,36).

COSI

In order to generate reliable and valid Member State-level data on the prevalence of overweight and obesity among primary school-aged children, COSI was established in 2007. The initiative established a common protocol which allowed systematic collection of data on children's weight status by routine and standardized measurement of body weight and height of children aged 7–9 years. Additional data on dietary intake, physical activity, sedentary behaviour, family background and school environments are also collected in many Member States. COSI is now the childhood obesity surveillance initiative with the widest coverage in the world, with participation increasing from 13 Member States in 2007 to 45 Member States in 2020. In total, the first five rounds of data collection have yielded measured anthropometric data on over 1.3 million children (37).

When considering the effects of COVID-19 on mental health, physical activity and eating behaviours among children and adolescents, it is important to better understand the impact of the pandemic on children's daily routines and behaviours, particularly with the epidemic of childhood obesity and other chronic diseases in the long term (38). This report presents the main results of the impact of the pandemic between 2020 and 2022 on children's daily routines, well-being, eating behaviours, physical activity and perception of their weight status, collected by 17 Member States.

1. Methodology

1.1 Study design, site and setting

Data collection was conducted in 13 Member States during the 2021–2022 school year (Azerbaijan, Croatia, Cyprus, Italy, Kazakhstan, Malta, Montenegro, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia and Uzbekistan) and in four Member States during the 2022–2023 school year (Albania, Bulgaria, Georgia and the Republic of Moldova).

Countries could decide to implement the study together with the sixth round of data collection or to implement it separately from the sixth round. The sixth data collection round of COSI involves 37 Member States. Of the Member States that decided to collect information on the impact of COVID-19, most decided to collect this data as part of the sixth COSI round, following the common COSI protocol for sample design (39). Italy, Poland, Romania and San Marino implemented the study separately from the sixth round of data collection, and data were collected according to the study protocol devised for this specific purpose by the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of NCDs and Member States.

The target population consisted of children enrolled in primary school and their families. According to the protocol, Member States had the option of targeting one or more of the following four age groups: 6.0–6.9, 7.0–7.9, 8.0–8.9 and 9.0–9.9 years; therefore, one or more primary school grades have been included in the survey depending on which grades were mostly attended by the targeted children in each Member State. Countries that implemented the study separately from the sixth COSI round selected the same school grades included in previous rounds of COSI and adopted a similar sampling design. The study covered the whole national territory in all Member States except for Kazakhstan, where only children and families living in Almaty City were included in the study.

Family participation in the study varied from 32% of selected families in Poland to over 80% in Albania, San Marino and Uzbekistan, with eight Member States reporting a participation rate between 60% and 80%. Information about the level of participation was not available for three Member States. Table 1 provides an overview of the main characteristics of the study design in each Member State that participated in the COSI-COVID-19 survey.



Member State (acronym)	Type of study	Data collection period	Study representativeness	Primary school grades included in the study	Number of primary schools included in the study	Families' response rate (%)	Number of observations included in the analysis
Albania (ALB)	COSI-COVID	Oct 22 – Nov 22	National	2nd and 3rd grades	144	81.7	5253
Azerbaijan (AZE)	COSI-COVID	Apr 22 – Jun 22	National	3rd grade	128	44.6	2391
Bulgaria (BGR)	COSI-COVID	Apr 23 – May 23	National	1st grade	201	79.6	3142
Croatia (HRV)	COSI-COVID	Feb 22 – Apr 22	National	2nd and 3rd grades	257	73.1	5500
Cyprus (CYP)	COSI-COVID	Jan 22 – Jun 22	National	1st and 4th grades	38	NA	650
Georgia (GEO)	COSI-COVID	Oct 22 – Dec 22	National	2nd grade	245	73.8	3214
Italy (ITA)	COVID	Apr 22 – Sep 22	National	3rd grade	270	46.6	4863
Almaty — Kazakhstan (KAZ-AL)	COSI-COVID	May 22	Sub-national	2nd and 3rd grades	46	67.9	1663
Malta (MLT)	COSI-COVID	Mar 22 – Jun 22	National	3rd grade	99	70.3	2867
Montenegro (MNE)	COSI-COVID	May 22 – Jun 22	National	1st and 2nd grades	110	75.9	3062
Poland (POL)	COVID	Nov 21 – Feb 22	National	2nd grade	109	31.6	856
Portugal (PRT)	COSI-COVID	Apr 22 – Jun 22	National	1st and 2nd grades	234	64.2	5139
Republic of Moldova (MDA)	COSI-COVID	Feb 23 – Mar 23	National	1st grade	90	61.1	2823
Romania (ROU)	COVID	Oct 21 – Jan 22	National	2nd and 3rd grades	152	NA	5033
San Marino (SMR)	COVID	Mar 22 – Apr 22	National	3rd grade	14	87.4	272
Slovakia (SVK)	COSI-COVID	May 22 – Oct 22	National	1st, 2nd and 3rd grades	186	NA	4131
Uzbekistan (UZB)	COSI-COVID	Apr 22 – May 22	National	1st grade	147	90.4	3514

Table 1. Main methodological features of the study by Member State

NA: not available

1.2 Data collection

Information on children's daily routines and behaviours regarding physical activity/inactivity, eating behaviours, well-being and family's background during pandemic confinement periods, was collected through 12 questions. Parents/caregivers of children selected to participate were invited to answer these questions. The questionnaire was attached to the letter that was given to them to inform them about this initiative and ask for their consent. This questionnaire was voluntary, and it could be completed and delivered in paper format and/or completed online in the LimeSurvey platform in the Member State's national language.

1.3 Data management

After completion of the data collection, the data were forwarded to the national coordinating centre for processing. The data were entered into either the LibreClinica system or another data entry system of the Member State's choice. Throughout this process, Member State teams were responsible for entering data collected on the paper forms and/or in an electronic system and for archiving the paper forms. The LibreClinica data entry system was developed for the purpose of the study by WHO and participating Member States were provided free access to it. The system was web-based, ensured that access to the data was regulated with secure account-management and kept a full audit trail of all changes.

The data manager was responsible for archiving the forms as well as data cleaning, validation and backup. If a Member State did not use the online system, the Member State sent a copy of the cleaned data file to the WHO Regional Office for Europe, along with a detailed report of the data cleaning procedures. Common data checking procedures was carried out both at the Member State and European level in order to validate datasets.

Post-stratification weights to adjust for sampling design, oversampling and nonresponse were estimated by the WHO Regional Office for Europe following a common approach (37) for all except for Cyprus, Poland and Romania. These weights were used in all analyses to infer results from sample to population. For Cyprus, Poland and Romania the analysis was unweighted. In the pooled analysis, an adjusting factor was applied to the sampling weights to take account of differences in population size and sample size of the Member States involved. The adjusting factor was calculated based on the number of children belonging to one age group according to Eurostat figures or national official statistics for 2021.

The percentage of respondents that did not provide information about being infected by COVID-19 or about the family socioeconomic status in the pandemic and pre-pandemic period (for example perceived family wealth and employment status) was particularly high in some Member States and, in general, much higher than that registered for all other questions. Country-specific and overall distributions of these variables have been calculated including the answer category "no answer provided".

2. Children's demographic characteristics, family socioeconomic status and COVID-19 infection²

2.1 Children's demographic characteristics

Table 2 presents the distribution of child population by sex and age in all participating Member States. Overall, 52% were male, 30% of children were 7-year-olds and 55% were 8-year-olds. Due to differences among Member States in terms of targeted age group(s), the distribution by age varied across the Member States, with the highest percentages of 6-year-old children or younger in Montenegro (25%), 7-years-old in Bulgaria (100%), 8-years-old in Azerbaijan (100%) and 9-years-old or older in Croatia (52%).

	Boys		Age in year	s (%)	
Member State	(%)	6-years-old or younger	7-year-olds	8-year-olds	9-year-olds or older
ALB	51.3	0.5	37.5	54.4	7.6
AZE	53.3	0.0	0.0	100.0	0.0
BGR	51.5	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
CYP	49.8	21.0	29.9	1.4	47.8
GEO	52.1	4.4	80.6	15.0	0.1
HRV	51.3	0.0	2.2	45.8	52.0
ITA	52.1	0.0	0.3	73.4	26.3
KAZ-AL	49.3	0.1	19.1	50.5	30.3
MDA	52.4	5.5	84.2	10.3	0.0
MLT	52.9	0.1	68.2	31.4	0.3
MNE	51.7	25.4	50.0	24.1	0.4
POL	52.1	0.1	4.1	91.6	4.1
PRT	49.7	21.3	48.1	29.5	1.2
ROU	47.5	0.1	2.5	48.0	49.5
SMR	53.3	0.0	0.7	61.8	37.5
SVK	50.9	0.0	49.9	50.1	0.0
UZB	53.0	0.0	82.5	17.3	0.2
AVG	51.8	1.3	30.5	54.8	13.4

Table 2. Percentage of boys and distribution of children by age group (%) by Member State

²For the purposes of this document, "COVID-19 infection" is used as a shorthand for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (COVID-19), caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus.

2.2 Family socioeconomic status

The majority of families easily pass a month with their perceived earnings or without serious problems (55%) during the pandemic (Fig. 1; Table 3). Although, an increase was observed in the number of families that reported having trouble making ends meet each month with their earnings (from 13% before the pandemic period to 18% during) and barely making ends meet each month (from 5–9%). Families from Albania and Azerbaijan reported most often (> 30%) a worsening of their household financial situation during the pandemic period (Fig. 2; Table 4). More than one in five respondents from Italy, the Republic of Moldova and Romania were not able to or did not answer this question for both periods.

Fig. 1. Perceived family wealth during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%, pooled estimates)







^a Data on perceived family wealth were not collected in Montenegro.

On average during the pandemic, parental employment status also changed, with a decrease in parents working either full- or part-time from 52 to 44% among mothers and from 70 to 62% among fathers (Fig. 3; Tables 5 and 6).³ The percentage of mothers and fathers that did not provide information on their employment status was higher for the pandemic period compared with prior.

Fig. 3. Mother's and father's employment status during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%, average figures)



^a "Other" includes those in full-time education or sick, disabled, retired, etc.

³For parental employment status. "parent", "father" or "mother" includes the following: (step) mothers, (step) fathers and/or their partners.

In most participating Member States, the percentage of mothers and fathers working either full- or parttime during the pandemic was lower compared with the pre-pandemic period, except for mothers in Slovakia, where the opposite occurred, and Azerbaijan where no change was observed (Fig. 4; Tables 5 and 6). The percentage of parents that did not answer this question was particularly high in Italy and in the Republic of Moldova, where more than one in five respondents did not provide the information for the pandemic period.

Fig. 4. Percentage of mothers and fathers that were working full-time or part-time during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)

Mothers working full-time or part-time







		Pre-pa	ndemic per	iod (%)		Pandemic period (%)						
		Wit	h our earnii	ng			With	n our earning	g			
Member Sta	We easily pass the month	We pass the month without serious problems	We had trouble making ends meet in the month	We barely making ends meet in the month	Don't know or no answer provided	We easily pass the month	We pass the month without serious problems	We had trouble making ends meet in the month	We barely making ends meet in the month	Don't know or no answer provided		
ALB	33.8	34.6	12.6	6.1	13.0	17.2	26.2	25.8	17.1	13.7		
AZE	32.9	25.1	20.8	18.4	2.8	17.9	19.7	29.9	29.2	3.3		
BGR	29.8	49.4	11.8	3.9	5.2	23.5	48.1	16.3	5.9	6.2		
СҮР	42.3	37.5	7.5	2.6	10.0	32.2	35.8	12.8	7.2	12.0		
GEO	42.5	37.9	9.6	5.0	4.9	32.8	37.8	13.0	7.9	8.5		
HRV	50.5	39.8	3.3	3.1	3.3	42.7	42.2	5.9	5.0	4.2		
ITA	22.2	37.5	15.7	3.3	21.2	14.1	26.8	22.6	11.8	24.7		
KAZ- AL	30.3	29.9	18.7	3.6	17.6	18.3	28.0	22.8	7.9	23.0		
MDA	18.0	36.3	12.9	8.8	24.0	10.9	27.7	19.6	13.6	28.2		
MLT	37.8	41.1	6.4	2.2	12.4	27.2	37.0	15.9	5.5	14.4		
MNE	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
POL	49.1	34.0	3.5	1.6	11.8	34.2	38.3	10.7	3.3	13.4		
PRT	30.9	46.3	15.1	3.1	4.7	26.7	43.1	19.3	4.7	6.2		
ROU	32.0	35.3	6.3	6.0	20.4	24.8	33.3	10.6	8.7	22.5		
SMR	22.8	51.5	16.2	3.3	6.3	19.9	41.9	21.7	10.3	6.3		
SVK	36.2	46.0	3.8	0.4	13.6	28.0	44.0	11.0	1.6	15.4		
UZB	40.1	19.8	19.2	7.4	13.5	33.4	19.2	18.8	8.8	19.8		
AVG	34.8	32.8	12.6	5.3	14.5	25.5	29.7	17.6	9.5	17.6		

Table 3. Perceived family wealth during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by

 Member State (%)

NA: not available

Member State	Worsened situation	Same situation	Improved situation	Don't know or no answer provided
ALB	33.2	47.3	1.8	17.7
AZE	30.8	63.8	1.8	3.7
BGR	13.3	79.3	1.1	6.3
СҮР	19.5	64.8	2.8	12.9
GEO	13.7	76.4	1.2	8.7
HRV	12.3	82.0	1.1	4.6
ITA	23.7	44.2	3.2	28.9
KAZ-AL	21.4	53.6	1.3	23.6
MDA	18.7	50.3	1.5	29.5
MLT	20.4	62.5	1.7	15.3
MNE	NA	NA	NA	NA
POL	21.4	63.1	1.9	13.7
PRT	11.4	79.5	2.0	7.1
ROU	13.0	62.0	1.0	24.0
SMR	21.3	68.0	4.4	6.3
SVK	14.9	67.0	1.4	16.7
UZB	8.5	70.0	1.0	20.5
AVG	17.8	61.1	1.8	19.2

Table 4. Change in perceived family wealth during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)

NA: not available

	hd (Pre-	pandemi	c period ((%)		Pandemic period (%)					
Member State	Percentage of forms filled ir the mother or the father (⁹	Full-time domestic houseworker/homemaker	Work full-time	Work part-time	Unemployed	Other ^b	No answer provided	Full-time domestic houseworker/homemaker	Work full-time	Work part-time	Unemployed	Other ^b	No answer provided
ALB	98.8	28.7	42.8	8.4	9.3	1.5	9.3	29.0	27.8	16.3	11.6	1.8	13.5
AZE	93.3	63.5	13.5	4.8	17.4	0.7	0.2	60.5	10.6	7.8	19.4	1.4	0.2
BGR	97.9	22.1	60.2	5.8	4.3	4.0	3.6	24.2	50.3	8.7	6.1	6.1	4.8
СҮР	100.0	12.5	72.7	7.1	2.5	0.5	4.8	15.0	57.1	15.0	4.3	1.4	7.3
GEO	98.1	51.4	34.3	7.4	2.3	1.6	3.1	47.7	30.4	8.5	3.3	1.8	8.2
HRV	98.8	14.5	68.9	4.8	3.4	4.5	4.0	13.0	64.6	5.5	3.9	5.8	7.3
ITA	99.1	17.3	40.7	20.9	4.5	5.1	11.5	15.5	29.7	12.9	4.6	3.8	33.5
KAZ- AL	99.1	34.3	49.5	7.6	6.4	2.2	0.0	39.2	35.3	12.7	10.2	2.6	0.0
MDA	96.8	30.8	44.5	5.4	6.8	2.6	9.9	27.9	36.0	7.7	7.3	3.7	17.4
MLT	99.2	19.8	53.3	16.8	2.9	3.3	3.9	20.0	48.6	13.9	4.8	3.5	9.2
MNE	99.5	22.5	48.5	3.6	12.2	1.8	11.5	19.9	39.9	8.4	12.2	3.0	16.6
POL	99.4	21.5	57.1	8.0	2.7	3.1	7.6	21.8	52.8	9.3	2.8	4.7	8.5
PRT	98.9	9.0	70.6	6.1	6.6	3.8	3.9	10.5	59.6	7.9	9.0	5.8	7.3
ROU	97.5	32.0	54.5	2.5	1.3	3.8	5.9	28.6	51.1	3.0	2.0	4.0	11.3
SMR	99.3	6.3	61.0	28.7	1.5	2.6	0.0	9.2	52.9	27.6	4.4	5.9	0.0
SVK	99.5	2.0	17.8	32.8	41.0	1.8	4.6	20.6	47.8	4.7	6.6	8.4	12.0
UZB	96.1	48.4	21.2	8.7	20.9	0.9	0.0	53.3	16.1	8.7	20.9	1.0	0.0
AVG	97.9	29.5	41.0	11.2	9.4	3.0	5.9	30.2	35.2	9.3	8.9	3.5	13.0

Table 5. Mother's employment status during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)ª

^a Percentages are calculated including only forms that were filled in by the mother or the father. ^bThe "other" category includes people that were in full-time education or that were sick, disabled, retired, etc.

		Pre	e-panden	nic period	d (%)		Pandemic period (%)					
Member State	Full-time domestic houseworker/homemaker	Work full-time	Work part-time	Unemployed	Other ^b	No answer provided	Full-time domestic houseworker/homemaker	Work full-time	Work part-time	Unemployed	Other ^b	No answer provided
ALB	3.7	64.4	13.4	5.7	1.5	11.3	5.8	40.9	26.7	12.1	1.7	12.8
AZE	5.6	57.8	15.2	15.7	2.5	3.2	4.5	44.1	20.8	24.8	2.7	3.1
BGR	0.4	77.5	7.0	5.3	2.4	7.5	0.6	71.8	9.2	7.3	2.9	8.2
СҮР	2.0	81.6	2.2	0.6	0.6	13.1	3.1	71.1	8.5	2.9	0.8	13.6
GEO	4.5	59.0	13.5	6.9	4.9	11.3	4.4	51.5	15.0	9.9	5.2	14.0
HRV	0.4	81.5	1.3	2.2	4.0	10.6	0.5	79.3	1.9	3.2	4.5	10.6
ITA	2.9	62.3	5.2	2.3	3.7	23.6	4.2	47.7	5.0	3.6	4.0	35.5
KAZ-AL	20.7	71.3	5.5	1.6	0.9	0.0	24.6	52.9	15.7	5.9	0.9	0.0
MDA	8.6	53.4	3.9	8.5	4.1	21.5	8.2	46.7	7.6	9.3	4.2	24.0
MLT	1.4	80.1	2.1	0.9	2.3	13.1	1.8	73.7	3.7	2.6	3.0	15.2
MNE	5.8	66.3	4.0	5.9	2.3	15.6	4.7	58.8	8.8	8.4	2.7	16.7
POL	1.8	79.6	1.9	2.1	3.9	10.7	1.7	77.0	3.9	2.2	3.7	11.6
PRT	1.9	74.6	3.0	3.0	3.7	13.8	2.1	68.7	5.3	4.3	4.2	15.4
ROU	9.5	67.2	2.4	2.2	5.8	12.9	8.9	64.1	3.0	2.8	6.1	15.1
SMR	1.8	82.0	5.5	1.5	3.7	5.5	3.3	75.7	7.0	2.9	5.5	5.5
SVK	4.1	74.1	3.9	4.8	2.3	10.9	13.5	65.2	3.0	2.1	2.8	13.4
UZB	39.5	40.4	13.4	5.4	1.3	0.0	44.1	32.5	14.6	7.5	1.2	0.0
AVG	11.3	62.7	6.9	4.2	3.2	11.7	12.7	54.1	8.4	6.0	3.4	15.4

Table 6. Father's employment status during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)^a

^a Percentages are calculated including only forms that were filled in by the mother or the father. ^b The "other" category includes people that were in full-time education or that were sick, disabled, retired, etc.



Overall, 22% of the children, 30% of the mothers and 26% of the fathers were infected with COVID-19 confirmed by a doctor and/or a positive test $(Table 7)^4$.

The Member State with the highest percentage of children and parents that did not have COVID-19 confirmed by a doctor and/or a positive COVID-19 test was Azerbaijan (93% of children, 82% of mothers and 81% of fathers; Fig. 5; Table 7). The Member States that had the highest percentage of children in home isolation were Cyprus, Portugal, San Marino and Slovakia (> 55%). The highest percentage of parents in home isolation were observed in Croatia, Cyprus, Georgia, Montenegro, Portugal, San Marino and Slovakia.



Fig. 5. Percentage of children and parents with COVID-19 confirmed by a doctor and/or a positive COVID-19 test by Member State (%)



⁴ "Parent", "father" or "mother" includes the following: (step) mothers, (step) fathers and/or their partners.

		Child	d (%)			Mothe	er (%)ª		Father (%)ª			
Member State	N	Yes, at home isolation	Yes, admitted at the hospital	No answer provided	N	Yes, at home isolation	Yes, admitted at the hospital	No answer provided	N	Yes, at home isolation	Yes, admitted at the hospital	No answer provided
ALB	77.8	10.1	0.3	11.9	64.1	25.8	0.7	9.5	65.3	23.2	0.9	10.5
AZE	92.8	7.1	0.1	0.0	82.5	16.8	0.5	0.3	80.6	16.3	0.8	2.2
BGR	80.4	13.7	0.1	5.9	59.5	36.2	0.8	3.5	59.1	31.5	2.0	7.4
СҮР	26.2	68.9	0.5	4.5	30.7	65.7	0.9	2.6	31.5	54.6	1.2	12.7
GEO	47.5	43.4	1.1	8.0	38.9	53.4	2.5	5.3	38.8	48.9	2.1	10.2
HRV	51.1	41.5	0.0	7.4	40.8	55.1	0.4	3.7	42.3	46.4	0.7	10.5
ITA	52.0	45.7	0.3	2.0	51.7	46.6	0.6	1.2	56.6	39.2	0.6	3.7
KAZ-AL	84.5	7.9	0.6	6.9	78.2	16.5	1.9	3.4	71.2	13.7	2.2	12.8
MDA	74.5	8.7	0.9	15.8	66.8	24.1	2.3	6.8	65.0	19.1	1.9	13.9
MLT	73.8	16.8	0.2	9.1	71.5	22.0	0.2	6.2	66.8	18.6	0.4	14.1
MNE	60.1	21.2	0.5	18.2	38.9	53.6	1.1	6.3	39.3	48.6	1.3	10.8
POL	88.1	6.3	0.0	5.6	75.8	20.0	0.4	3.9	76.5	16.8	0.8	5.9
PRT	38.7	55.3	0.4	5.6	35.4	59.6	0.7	4.2	38.5	46.3	0.6	14.6
ROU	80.5	6.9	0.3	12.3	55.8	13.8	0.8	29.6	71.6	11.4	1.1	15.9
SMR	34.6	65.4	0.0	0.0	41.1	53.3	0.0	5.6	32.6	65.6	0.0	1.9
SVK	29.0	58.9	0.1	12.1	21.5	67.6	0.2	10.7	24.8	60.5	0.1	14.5
UZB	81.4	4.7	0.3	13.7	80.8	10.4	1.3	7.5	76.2	9.8	1.9	12.1
AVG	70.8	21.6	0.2	7.3	63.3	29.5	0.8	6.4	65.2	25.3	1.1	8.4

Table 7. COVID-19 confirmed by a doctor and/or a positive COVID-19 test by Member State (%)

3. Eating behaviours

3.1 Children's eating behaviours

Parents were asked if their children's consumption of fresh fruit; vegetables; savoury snacks; sweets; soft drinks containing sugar; meat; fish; dairy products or breakfast cereals decreased, stayed the same or increased during the pandemic period in comparison to prior.

On average, for all items, consumption remained unchanged for most children (70–80%; Fig. 6; Tables 8–12). While healthy foods such as fresh fruits and vegetables were consumed more frequently during the pandemic period in most Member States, unhealthy foods such as savoury snacks and sweets also showed higher consumption during the pandemic period. Conversely, where a change in the frequency of consumption of soft drinks with sugar was observed, the tendency was for it to be decreased rather than increased. A similar pattern was observed for eating fish; while consumption of meat and breakfast cereals did not show a prevailing change. Dairy products were consumed more frequently during the pandemic period.







Fig. 6. Change in some food items and soft drink consumption during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)





Fig. 7. Change in some food items and soft drinks consumption during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State $(\%)^a$



Vegetables



Savoury snack











Meat







Dairy products

Breakfast cereals



^a Data on breakfast cereals consumption were not collected in Croatia.

		Fresh	n fruit			Veget	tables	
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	5.4	67.5	22.2	4.9	6.9	70.9	18.4	3.8
AZE	5.0	76.9	11.2	6.9	6.0	79.2	8.2	6.6
BGR	3.1	79.2	8.2	9.6	2.7	82.2	6.4	8.8
СҮР	9.4	77.1	10.3	3.1	6.7	83.3	7.1	2.9
GEO	4.8	87.0	5.0	3.2	5.4	87.0	4.9	2.8
HRV	3.0	84.4	9.7	2.9	2.0	88.5	7.2	2.3
ITA	8.0	79.9	6.9	5.2	8.9	80.8	5.8	4.5
KAZ-AL	7.2	67.6	8.9	16.1	5.7	73.2	7.7	13.4
MDA	3.7	76.1	11.4	8.7	3.1	80.1	9.4	7.4
MLT	5.4	79.4	12.8	2.4	5.0	83.3	9.3	2.5
MNE	2.8	69.0	23.3	5.0	1.9	75.2	18.4	4.5
POL	4.2	80.8	8.6	6.3	4.8	84.5	5.5	5.2
PRT	5.4	79.9	11.9	2.7	6.8	83.6	7.1	2.4
ROU	4.1	80.7	10.1	5.1	2.9	84.2	7.8	5.1
SMR	9.2	84.9	3.7	2.2	4.8	88.2	4.8	2.2
SVK	2.7	81.4	14.5	1.4	2.5	84.7	11.5	1.3
UZB	6.2	72.8	14.5	6.4	11.3	73.3	11.3	4.1
AVG	5.7	78.4	10.3	5.6	7.0	80.6	7.8	4.6

Table 8. Change in consumption of fresh fruit and vegetables during the pandemic in comparison to thepre-pandemic period (%)



Table 9. Change in consumption of savoury snacks and sweets during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

		Savoury	v snacks			Swe	eets	
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	15.7	65.3	15.3	3.6	15.1	67.1	14.1	3.7
AZE	9.7	75.8	8.7	5.8	5.7	79.2	10.1	5.0
BGR	7.1	78.2	4.7	10.0	5.4	80.6	4.9	9.1
СҮР	5.3	64.2	27.8	2.7	5.3	62.7	29.6	2.4
GEO	10.3	82.4	3.9	3.5	6.6	84.1	6.7	2.6
HRV	5.5	82.6	9.9	2.0	5.1	82.4	10.5	2.0
ITA	5.9	66.8	23.9	3.5	5.1	66.2	25.3	3.4
KAZ-AL	15.6	65.6	5.4	13.4	10.1	71.4	7.0	11.5
MDA	16.0	69.7	3.9	10.3	9.1	76.5	6.7	7.7
MLT	3.1	64.5	30.7	1.6	3.7	63.9	31.0	1.5
MNE	8.7	76.8	8.5	6.0	9.3	75.9	9.2	5.6
POL	7.1	71.0	17.0	4.9	6.8	66.3	22.6	4.3
PRT	10.9	72.1	13.8	3.1	9.1	68.9	19.4	2.7
ROU	9.1	71.3	13.7	5.9	7.4	71.0	16.7	4.9
SMR	4.8	69.1	22.8	3.3	2.9	67.6	28.3	1.1
SVK	6.7	84.1	7.3	1.9	5.4	82.9	10.2	1.5
UZB	18.7	64.0	12.1	5.2	11.9	66.0	18.3	3.8
AVG	10.0	69.9	15.5	4.7	7.5	69.5	18.9	4.0

Table 10. Change in consumption of meat and fish during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

Member State	Meat				Fish			
	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	11.3	70.2	14.7	3.8	12.3	66.5	15.8	5.4
AZE	7.5	77.1	8.8	6.6	9.9	76.2	5.1	8.8
BGR	3.8	84.1	3.5	8.6	6.4	81.5	2.5	9.6
СҮР	4.6	84.4	8.5	2.5	7.9	83.2	5.8	3.1
GEO	7.5	85.3	4.7	2.4	10.4	83.2	3.0	3.4
HRV	2.5	92.6	2.9	2.1	5.4	88.9	3.1	2.6
ITA	7.4	82.0	7.2	3.4	13.8	77.5	3.9	4.8
KAZ-AL	7.1	72.0	9.9	11.0	10.8	68.5	4.9	15.8
MDA	5.4	81.5	5.7	7.4	8.0	78.5	5.0	8.6
MLT	3.2	86.9	7.9	2.0	7.1	85.0	4.8	3.1
MNE	2.5	84.8	7.7	5.0	4.2	82.5	6.5	6.8
POL	6.7	84.3	4.2	4.8	5.0	86.3	2.9	5.8
PRT	3.7	88.5	5.5	2.4	7.2	85.7	4.6	2.5
ROU	3.8	84.4	6.6	5.2	5.8	81.5	5.5	7.3
SMR	2.9	88.6	7.7	0.7	16.2	79.0	3.7	1.1
SVK	4.5	90.1	3.8	1.6	6.7	87.2	3.5	2.6
UZB	12.7	67.1	16.6	3.7	20.1	62.9	10.0	7.0
AVG	7.6	80.0	8.3	4.2	11.2	77.6	5.3	5.9


Table 11. Change in consumption of dairy products and breakfast cereals during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

		Dairy p	roducts		Breakfast cereals			
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	7.1	71.1	18.4	3.4	11.0	72.0	10.5	6.5
AZE	7.3	77.6	8.9	6.3	9.5	79.6	4.8	6.1
BGR	2.4	83.6	5.5	8.5	6.7	79.7	2.5	11.0
СҮР	3.9	79.7	14.3	2.0	3.5	76.6	17.5	2.5
GEO	5.6	86.6	5.3	2.5	9.1	82.4	2.8	5.6
HRV	1.6	91.8	4.7	1.9	NA	NA	NA	NA
ITA	5.6	82.7	8.0	3.7	5.7	81.0	6.1	7.1
KAZ-AL	5.1	74.9	9.7	10.2	8.9	72.1	7.5	11.6
MDA	3.9	80.3	8.4	7.3	6.5	78.7	6.7	8.2
MLT	1.8	78.9	17.7	1.5	2.5	77.2	18.4	1.8
MNE	1.8	86.1	7.7	4.5	5.4	82.9	4.5	7.2
POL	3.1	83.4	9.3	4.2	8.1	77.5	10.6	3.9
PRT	3.1	84.2	10.2	2.4	5.4	81.2	10.6	2.8
ROU	2.5	81.4	11.4	4.7	5.3	79.7	9.5	5.5
SMR	3.7	90.1	4.4	1.8	3.7	87.1	6.6	2.6
SVK	3.3	87.2	8.1	1.4	4.9	86.3	6.4	2.4
UZB	11.4	67.2	18.1	3.3	15.8	68.3	10.2	5.6
AVG	5.8	79.4	10.8	4.0	8.6	77.4	8.2	5.7

NA: not available

		Soft drinks cont	aining sugar	
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	26.5	59.8	6.7	7.1
AZE	8.3	78.2	7.2	6.3
BGR	9.7	77.1	1.9	11.3
СҮР	9.9	79.0	6.3	4.8
GEO	11.4	81.7	3.7	3.2
HRV	7.1	86.7	3.1	3.0
ITA	9.8	75.1	10.6	4.4
KAZ-AL	14.0	65.6	4.5	15.9
MDA	15.5	71.2	3.0	10.3
MLT	6.7	82.4	8.3	2.6
MNE	10.7	78.1	4.2	7.0
POL	11.1	78.7	5.8	4.4
PRT	13.8	78.0	5.2	3.1
ROU	12.8	74.2	7.0	6.0
SMR	9.2	79.0	9.2	2.6
SVK	8.9	86.0	2.8	2.3
UZB	19.9	63.8	10.0	6.3
AVG	12.7	74.3	7.7	5.3

Table 12. Change in consumption of soft drinks containing sugar during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)



The study investigated also how family consumption behaviours in a weekly routine have changed during the pandemic compared with before. Overall, the percentage of families that did not report any change varies with behaviour type, ranging from 46 to 77% (Fig. 8).

The behaviours that were observed to have had the highest increases during the pandemic were "eating home-cooked meals" (30%), "eating together as a family" (29%), "buying food in large quantities" (28%) and "cooking meals together with your child" (26%; Fig. 8; Tables 13–18). One in five families reported an increase in "planning purchases and meals in advance". Conversely "eating meals prepared outside of the home" as well as "eating ready-to-eat meals" decreased in nearly all Member States, varying between 15% and 57% (Fig. 8; Tables 13–18). On average, 31% and 29% of the parents, respectively, reported a decline. With regards grocery shopping, approximately one in five families reported a decrease in "buying foods in super- or hypermarkets" and in "buying online grocery shopping".











San Marino was the Member State with the highest increase in the behaviours: "eating home-cooked meals" (55%), "buying food in large quantities" (55%) and "planning purchases and meals in advance" (44%; Fig. 9; Tables 13–18). Both Italy and San Marino observed the highest increase in "cooking meals together with your child" (around 40%).

Both Albania and Uzbekistan observed a decrease in the behaviours of "eating ready-to-eat meals" (> 45%), "eating meals prepared outside of home" (> 50%) and "buying online grocery shopping" (> 40%) much greater than in all other Member States. Uzbekistan also observed the highest decrease for "reusing leftovers for another meal" (60%) and the highest increase for "eating together as a family" (43%; Fig. 9; Tables 13–18).

Fig. 9. Change in families' behaviours during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



Eating home - cooked meals

Eating ready to eat meals





Eating meals prepared outside of home





Cooking meals together with your child



Eating breakfast





Buying regional/local food at nearby businesses





Buying online grocery shopping



Buying food in large quantities





Reusing leftovers for another meal

Planning purchases and meals in advance





Table 13. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%) – "eating home-cooked meals" and "eating ready-to-eat meals"

		Eating home-	cooked meals		Eating ready-to-eat meals			
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	3.8	58.3	35.8	2.1	47.7	38.5	4.8	9.0
AZE	5.4	75.2	14.8	4.6	16.7	70.7	4.6	8.0
BGR	1.3	71.7	21.7	5.3	24.7	59.4	2.7	13.3
СҮР	3.3	61.8	33.0	1.9	18.6	66.8	9.8	4.9
GEO	2.6	81.4	13.1	2.9	20.3	65.8	4.1	9.8
HRV	1.4	81.9	15.4	1.3	18.8	72.8	2.5	5.9
ITA	2.7	52.2	42.2	2.9	26.1	55.1	3.7	15.1
KAZ-AL	4.3	65.1	19.9	10.7	26.8	47.6	5.5	20.1
MDA	3.0	74.5	15.1	7.4	19.5	58.9	3.4	18.2
MLT	3.0	64.0	30.6	2.3	18.0	64.1	13.5	4.4
MNE	1.2	82.3	12.3	4.2	15.2	67.5	4.7	12.5
POL	1.3	82.1	15.0	1.5	19.0	71.4	3.7	5.9
PRT	1.8	66.6	29.1	2.5	28.2	63.2	3.5	5.1
ROU	1.8	76.8	17.6	3.8	16.9	70.1	4.2	8.9
SMR	1.8	40.8	54.8	2.6	23.9	63.6	4.8	7.7
SVK	2.9	61.1	32.8	3.3	20.3	63.1	4.5	12.1
UZB	5.6	46.3	46.2	1.9	49.2	33.4	12.2	5.2
AVG	3.1	63.7	30.4	2.7	27.8	57.4	5.6	9.3

Table 14. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparisonto the pre-pandemic period (%) – "eating meals prepared outside home" and "eating together as a family"

e,	Eating	g meals prepa	red outside of	home	Eating together as a family				
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	
ALB	51.5	32.8	3.7	12.1	4.3	63.2	30.6	1.9	
AZE	15.9	70.3	3.4	10.5	5.7	76.0	14.1	4.2	
BGR	26.6	56.8	3.0	13.6	1.2	74.4	19.7	4.7	
СҮР	18.3	62.2	15.9	3.7	3.0	66.4	28.6	2.0	
GEO	20.5	63.7	4.2	11.6	3.2	81.8	12.2	2.8	
HRV	19.5	68.2	4.1	8.2	2.3	73.7	22.7	1.3	
ITA	28.1	43.9	12.8	15.1	7.7	50.7	39.2	2.5	
KAZ-AL	27.8	44.5	5.6	22.1	5.6	66.3	17.6	10.5	
MDA	24.0	49.7	3.6	22.6	2.5	74.8	15.7	7.1	
MLT	24.0	53.3	18.9	3.8	4.7	63.1	31.0	1.1	
MNE	17.5	62.7	5.9	13.8	4.0	80.6	10.6	4.7	
POL	22.6	64.3	5.0	8.2	1.9	80.8	15.3	2.0	
PRT	29.4	54.8	10.1	5.7	5.0	57.3	35.4	2.3	
ROU	21.7	59.2	6.4	12.6	2.4	76.5	17.7	3.5	
SMR	16.5	52.2	25.0	6.3	5.1	53.3	39.0	2.6	
SVK	24.9	55.6	7.1	12.5	5.1	65.5	26.4	2.9	
UZB	57.5	23.1	5.2	14.2	4.8	49.9	43.1	2.2	
AVG	31.4	49.0	7.3	12.3	4.6	63.6	29.1	2.7	



Table 15. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparisonto the pre-pandemic period (%) – "cooking meals together" and "eating breakfast"

	Cook	ing meals toge	ther with your	child	Eating breakfast				
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	
ALB	6.3	64.4	26.6	2.7	6.7	70.3	20.6	2.4	
AZE	9.9	76.4	7.0	6.7	5.8	78.3	11.5	4.4	
BGR	2.7	74.1	15.1	8.1	1.1	82.2	11.6	5.1	
СҮР	2.7	63.7	30.7	2.9	1.9	79.3	16.6	2.2	
GEO	3.6	82.0	11.0	3.4	2.5	86.5	8.6	2.4	
HRV	2.5	75.2	20.2	2.1	1.4	87.6	9.7	1.3	
ITA	3.8	50.0	42.0	4.2	3.1	78.4	15.7	2.8	
KAZ-AL	7.8	62.3	14.2	15.6	4.8	71.0	13.6	10.5	
MDA	4.5	71.8	13.9	9.8	2.3	79.5	11.2	7.0	
MLT	2.3	58.6	36.9	2.3	2.4	76.3	19.4	1.9	
MNE	2.4	80.2	9.8	7.7	0.9	89.8	5.1	4.2	
POL	2.8	77.8	15.5	3.9	1.8	88.2	7.6	2.4	
PRT	3.8	59.3	33.6	3.3	1.4	83.3	13.3	2.1	
ROU	2.7	73.8	18.6	4.9	2.3	80.8	13.1	3.8	
SMR	1.5	51.8	43.0	3.7	1.1	85.7	10.7	2.6	
SVK	4.5	67.2	23.7	4.5	4.2	79.1	13.8	3.0	
UZB	30.3	37.4	27.9	4.4	4.9	59.2	34.3	1.6	
AVG	9.4	60.2	25.8	4.5	3.2	77.1	17.0	2.7	

Table 16. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%) – "buying regional/local food at nearby businesses" and "buying food in super or hypermarkets"

	Buying req	gional/local fo	od at nearby b	ousinesses	Buying food in super or hypermarkets			
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	20.4	59.5	15.4	4.8	17.2	63.2	17.4	2.3
AZE	11.4	75.5	5.2	7.9	9.2	78.2	6.8	5.9
BGR	15.1	65.9	12.9	6.5	26.8	63.1	4.2	5.9
СҮР	7.9	70.8	18.6	2.7	14.0	70.3	13.8	1.9
GEO	13.1	76.0	7.6	3.3	11.2	76.6	8.3	3.9
HRV	13.6	70.9	13.1	2.3	19.1	73.7	5.5	1.7
ITA	23.0	51.8	15.0	10.2	15.8	63.7	16.9	3.5
KAZ-AL	11.3	58.0	12.2	18.5	15.4	58.8	13.5	12.4
MDA	14.8	66.4	8.9	9.9	14.9	68.5	8.5	8.2
MLT	13.6	55.1	29.1	2.2	24.7	56.0	17.9	1.4
MNE	11.2	74.4	9.2	5.2	11.7	76.2	7.6	4.5
POL	10.3	74.5	10.5	4.7	24.2	70.3	3.1	2.4
PRT	13.6	58.7	24.9	2.8	27.2	64.5	6.2	2.1
ROU	8.1	71.3	14.8	5.8	17.2	69.7	8.5	4.6
SMR	24.3	58.8	12.1	4.8	8.8	66.9	21.7	2.6
SVK	21.0	57.0	17.1	4.9	33.6	55.9	6.6	4.0
UZB	22.3	57.1	15.3	5.4	38.0	42.3	12.6	7.0
AVG	16.9	62.9	13.7	6.5	23.0	62.5	10.2	4.3



Table 17. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparisonto the pre-pandemic period (%) – "buying online grocery shopping" and "buying food in large quantities"

	В	uying online g	rocery shoppir	ng	Buying food in large quantities				
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	
ALB	41.0	31.1	6.5	21.4	22.2	50.0	21.9	5.9	
AZE	13.3	71.1	3.4	12.2	11.7	72.4	7.5	8.4	
BGR	14.1	57.1	9.2	19.5	9.4	61.4	18.1	11.0	
СҮР	5.7	54.8	25.9	13.7	4.3	63.1	29.0	3.5	
GEO	15.1	63.0	7.5	14.4	12.5	69.3	12.6	5.6	
HRV	13.1	59.9	16.7	10.2	5.7	63.0	27.9	3.4	
ITA	16.9	41.1	18.9	23.2	6.6	40.4	47.1	5.8	
KAZ-AL	21.8	40.8	10.7	26.7	11.9	56.2	15.4	16.5	
MDA	17.2	44.3	11.0	27.5	11.7	58.7	18.1	11.5	
MLT	10.1	41.4	41.5	7.0	3.4	55.8	37.5	3.3	
MNE	11.3	60.6	7.6	20.5	5.6	71.4	15.1	7.9	
POL	12.8	58.0	9.9	19.4	8.7	62.0	24.2	5.1	
PRT	22.0	49.7	17.6	10.7	6.9	56.3	33.6	3.3	
ROU	10.2	48.8	28.5	12.5	5.6	66.3	20.3	7.8	
SMR	11.0	58.8	17.6	12.5	1.1	40.1	54.8	4.0	
SVK	15.2	51.5	15.3	18.0	7.0	53.4	33.0	6.6	
UZB	48.9	22.7	4.1	24.4	19.8	54.2	20.3	5.7	
AVG	21.6	45.7	13.1	19.6	10.5	55.4	27.9	6.1	

Table 18. Change in family consumption behaviours in weekly routine during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%) – "reusing leftovers for another meal" and "planning purchases and meals in advance"

¢)	Rei	using leftovers	for another m	ieal	Planning purchases and meals in advance				
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	
ALB	28.8	52.2	8.5	10.5	13.6	60.7	16.6	9.2	
AZE	14.5	71.0	3.5	10.9	7.8	75.1	7.2	9.9	
BGR	5.6	76.3	6.8	11.3	3.4	72.3	13.9	10.4	
СҮР	2.1	82.4	11.7	3.7	3.7	71.5	20.4	4.4	
GEO	9.8	78.6	4.1	7.4	5.9	79.9	6.9	7.3	
HRV	3.1	83.2	10.6	3.2	2.3	74.0	20.9	2.7	
ITA	4.1	69.3	19.7	7.0	4.4	54.4	33.8	7.4	
KAZ-AL	16.2	44.5	4.1	35.2	7.8	60.1	10.3	21.8	
MDA	11.1	60.8	5.5	22.6	5.0	71.0	12.8	11.2	
MLT	4.7	75.4	15.2	4.7	4.0	68.2	24.4	3.4	
MNE	5.5	77.0	4.8	12.7	3.4	77.3	8.1	11.1	
POL	2.5	79.3	12.7	5.4	2.0	74.6	19.1	4.2	
PRT	2.7	74.7	19.7	2.9	4.2	69.8	22.5	3.5	
ROU	7.7	71.3	6.7	14.2	4.4	72.8	10.5	12.4	
SMR	2.6	69.9	22.8	4.8	1.8	48.9	43.8	5.5	
SVK	5.9	69.5	13.0	11.6	4.6	63.2	26.6	5.6	
UZB	59.8	23.1	5.8	11.3	19.4	53.7	19.4	7.5	
AVG	16.7	62.9	11.6	8.8	7.4	64.1	21.1	7.3	

3.3. Children's consumption of meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services

Parents were asked how often children consumed meals ordered via applications and/or other online delivery services during the pandemic compared with prior.

Overall, there were no major changes in consumption of these types of meals (Fig. 10; Table 19), with around 75% of children consuming these meals less than once a month or not consuming them at all in both periods.

However, results differed when looking at Member States individually, with the highest increases observed in Italy (25%), Malta (27%) and San Marino (40%; Fig. 11; Table 20).

Fig. 10. Changes in consumption of meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)^a



^aData on consumption of meals ordered by applications or other online delivery services were not collected in Kazakhstan (Almaty) and Uzbekistan.



Fig. 11. Change in consuming meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)^a

^a Data on consumption of meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services were not collected in Kazakhstan (Almaty) and Uzbekistan.

			Pre-pandemi	c period		
Member State	Never	Less than once a month	Once a month	3-2 times per month	Once per week	More than once per week
ALB	47.8	16.2	13.7	9.8	10.1	2.4
AZE	77.9	7.6	5.5	5.4	2.7	0.9
BGR	55.9	22.4	9.2	7.4	4.2	0.8
CYP	5.8	9.8	10.3	29.0	37.4	7.8
GEO	67.2	15.2	5.4	5.5	3.0	3.6
HRV	48.3	25.8	14.6	9.2	1.9	0.3
ITA	61.1	16.9	10.2	7.1	4.3	0.4
KAZ-AL	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
MDA	72.4	13.4	7.7	5.0	1.4	0.1
MLT	52.6	12.1	8.3	12.7	13.2	1.2
MNE	53.7	19.7	10.7	11.6	3.6	0.7
POL	36.8	35.9	16.6	9.8	0.7	0.2
PRT	52.2	22.8	12.4	8.9	3.4	0.4
ROU	58.2	18.7	11.3	8.3	2.6	0.9
SMR	57.4	18.8	10.3	7.7	5.5	0.4
SVK	26.3	31.5	23.0	14.7	4.0	0.5
UZB	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
AVG	54 1	21.8	11 9	83	3.2	0.7

Table 19. Children's consumption frequency of meals ordered using applications or other online delivery services during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



			Pandemic pe	riod (%)		
Member State	Never	Less than once a month	Once a month	3-2 times per month	Once per week	More than once per week
ALB	63.9	13.6	8.7	6.1	5.7	2.1
AZE	80.6	7.0	4.9	4.2	2.0	1.4
BGR	61.5	19.9	7.3	6.2	3.6	1.5
СҮР	13.7	9.7	9.7	23.7	28.9	14.4
GEO	66.6	13.7	5.0	6.0	3.1	5.5
HRV	48.4	24.2	14.0	10.5	2.3	0.7
ITA	54.7	15.4	10.5	11.8	6.2	1.5
KAZ-AL	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
MDA	75.9	11.7	6.0	4.8	1.3	0.4
MLT	43.2	10.5	6.9	16.4	18.9	4.1
MNE	58.1	17.3	9.7	10.5	3.4	1.0
POL	38.6	34.0	14.3	11.3	1.5	0.2
PRT	52.2	19.8	10.6	11.7	4.0	1.6
ROU	58.4	17.6	9.9	9.4	3.3	1.4
SMR	38.6	20.2	14.0	13.6	11.4	2.2
SVK	27.9	29.2	20.2	16.2	5.1	1.3
UZB	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
AVG	53.4	20.2	10.8	10.2	4.0	1.4

NA: not available

Table 20. Change in children's consumption of meals ordered through applications or other online delivery services during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased
ALB	26.7	67.3	6.1
AZE	6.8	89.8	3.4
BGR	9.3	85.9	4.8
СҮР	17.8	64.2	18.1
GEO	5.4	84.5	10.1
HRV	3.7	89.3	7.0
ITA	10.0	64.8	25.2
KAZ-AL	NA	NA	NA
MDA	6.6	89.6	3.8
MLT	5.4	67.7	26.8
MNE	9.9	84.6	5.5
POL	6.1	86.4	7.5
PRT	8.4	77.1	14.5
ROU	4.1	88.6	7.3
SMR	4.8	55.1	40.1
SVK	6.6	82.9	10.5
UZB	NA	NA	NA
AVG	7.9	78.8	13.3

NA: not available

4. Sleep patterns, physical activity and sedentary behaviours

4.1 Children's sleep patterns

Parents were asked whether their child's sleep pattern changed during the pandemic compared with the pre-pandemic period on weekdays and weekends.

For most children (75%), their sleep pattern stayed the same (Fig. 12; Table 21). The parents that reported a change in their child's sleep pattern indicated an increase in the amount of sleep on weekdays and weekends rather than a decrease during the pandemic period. On average, 15% and 17% of the children increased sleep time during pandemic on weekdays and weekends, respectively. In San Marino children increased their sleep most during weekdays (26%) during the pandemic compared with prior and the same pattern was observed in Uzbekistan for the weekends (33%; Fig. 13; Table 21).



Fig. 12. Change in children's sleep pattern during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)





Fig. 13. Change in children's sleep patterns during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



Weekdays





		Wee	(days		Weekends			
Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	9.0	78.5	10.1	2.4	6.5	76.1	14.5	2.9
AZE	6.8	83.1	6.0	4.1	6.1	82.0	7.3	4.6
BGR	2.3	83.3	8.8	5.6	1.5	84.7	8.5	5.2
СҮР	12.7	68.9	17.2	1.3	10.0	73.0	15.6	1.4
GEO	7.2	79.7	11.0	2.2	4.5	80.2	13.1	2.2
HRV	1.9	82.3	14.5	1.3	1.2	83.0	14.5	1.3
ITA	10.0	67.0	20.9	2.1	8.0	72.6	17.3	2.1
KAZ-AL	5.6	76.4	9.3	8.6	3.5	74.7	13.8	8.0
MDA	4.8	75.6	13.3	6.4	3.2	80.4	10.5	5.9
MLT	8.5	69.9	20.1	1.5	6.6	74.9	17.0	1.5
MNE	2.9	77.0	15.6	4.5	2.1	79.7	14.4	3.8
POL	7.1	78.2	12.0	2.6	4.9	83.1	9.8	2.3
PRT	5.0	71.8	21.7	1.4	4.4	75.3	18.8	1.5
ROU	4.0	78.4	14.3	3.3	3.0	82.2	12.0	2.8
SMR	7.7	63.6	26.1	2.6	5.9	73.9	18.0	2.2
SVK	2.3	82.8	12.5	2.5	1.9	85.8	9.8	2.5
UZB	10.6	73.9	12.9	2.6	5.3	60.0	32.8	1.9
AVG	7.8	74.8	14.7	2.7	5.4	74.8	17.3	2.5

Table 21. Change in children's sleep patterns during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



4.2 Time spent playing actively/vigorously

Parents were asked if the time their children spent outside school hours playing actively or vigorously (for example, running and jumping outside, or playing actively and playing fitness games inside) had changed when pandemic restrictions were in place, in comparison to the prior period.

On average, one in two children spent the same amount of time on these activities, while a decrease in time spent was observed on weekdays in 28% of children and on weekends in 23% (Fig. 14; Table 22). In most Member States, if a change was observed, a decrease was more frequent than an increase, with the highest drops registered in Italy, Malta and San Marino (more than 40% of children) and the lowest in Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan (Almaty) and the Republic of Moldova; below 15% (Fig. 15; Table 22).



Fig. 14. Change in time spent by children, outside school hours, playing actively/vigorously during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



Fig. 15. Change in time spent by children, outside school hours, playing actively/vigorously during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)



Weekend





Table 22. Change in time spent by children, outside school hours, playing actively/vigorously during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

Member State	Weekdays				Weekend				
	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	
ALB	23.4	55.2	17.8	3.6	20.2	57.6	18.7	3.5	
AZE	9.7	73.8	10.4	6.0	10.2	73.0	11.2	5.6	
BGR	17.0	65.3	10.7	7.0	13.5	68.8	11.0	6.7	
СҮР	30.2	48.0	20.1	1.7	27.3	51.7	19.3	1.7	
GEO	12.2	70.5	14.5	2.9	9.1	71.9	16.0	2.9	
HRV	37.3	50.1	10.4	2.1	30.3	56.6	10.9	2.2	
ITA	44.0	35.9	17.8	2.3	39.3	42.5	15.7	2.5	
KAZ-AL	14.9	59.8	16.1	9.3	12.2	60.1	18.2	9.4	
MDA	12.5	62.5	18.0	7.0	9.0	66.3	17.3	7.4	
MLT	45.9	36.1	15.2	2.8	39.6	40.1	17.1	3.2	
MNE	24.6	57.2	13.5	4.6	21.5	59.5	14.1	4.9	
POL	37.2	48.9	11.0	2.9	26.6	60.3	10.3	2.8	
PRT	24.0	47.3	26.7	2.0	20.8	55.1	22.1	2.1	
ROU	22.3	58.4	16.5	2.9	17.3	64.1	15.8	2.8	
SMR	48.5	35.3	14.0	2.2	41.2	41.2	15.4	2.2	
SVK	20.0	61.7	14.0	4.3	12.7	68.2	15.0	4.1	
UZB	17.5	54.2	24.5	3.9	14.8	52.5	29.5	3.3	
AVG	28.4	51.0	17.2	3.4	23.5	55.8	17.4	3.3	

4.3 Sedentary recreational screen time

On average, 36% of the children increased the time spent watching TV, playing video/computer games or using social media for non-educational purposes on weekdays and 34% on weekends during the pandemic period (Fig. 16; Table 23). In comparison, the percentage of children who decreased their recreational screen time was much smaller, below 10%. This picture was observed in all Member States except in Albania for both weekdays and weekends and Uzbekistan for weekdays where the increase matched the drop (Fig. 17; Table 23). In five out of 17 Member States, over 40% of children spent more time in sedentary recreational activities compared with the pre-pandemic period, both on weekdays and the weekend, with the highest values recorded in Malta and San Marino (over 60% on weekdays, and over 50% on weekends).



Fig. 16. Change in children's sedentary recreational screen time during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)





Fig. 17. Change in children's sedentary recreational screen during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)







Member State	Weekdays				Weekend			
	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	21.8	53.4	22.2	2.6	20.7	53.8	22.2	3.4
AZE	9.7	72.9	12.5	4.9	9.6	72.8	12.9	4.8
BGR	4.3	67.0	22.1	6.5	3.4	69.5	20.8	6.3
СҮР	2.0	41.8	54.9	1.2	2.3	42.7	53.5	1.4
GEO	12.0	67.4	17.5	3.1	11.1	68.1	17.9	2.9
HRV	3.1	53.7	41.7	1.5	2.6	56.5	39.2	1.7
ITA	5.4	39.6	52.7	2.3	6.0	44.1	47.3	2.7
KAZ-AL	12.4	60.3	17.8	9.5	11.8	60.9	17.6	9.8
MDA	9.9	66.2	18.0	5.9	9.7	67.0	17.0	6.3
MLT	4.3	33.9	60.7	1.2	2.5	36.6	59.8	1.2
MNE	6.3	61.2	27.7	4.8	5.9	63.3	25.5	5.3
POL	4.0	50.4	43.6	2.0	3.8	56.7	37.4	2.0
PRT	3.1	46.2	48.7	2.0	2.8	50.6	44.5	2.0
ROU	6.7	55.3	34.7	3.3	5.7	58.8	31.5	3.9
SMR	4.8	31.3	62.1	1.8	4.4	40.4	52.9	2.2
SVK	4.0	58.4	34.7	2.8	3.6	64.8	28.7	2.9
UZB	22.6	51.5	23.0	2.9	16.7	51.9	27.9	3.6
AVG	9.5	51.2	36.4	2.9	8.1	54.4	34.3	3.2

Table 23. Change in children's sedentary recreational screen during the pandemic in comparison to thepre-pandemic period (%)



4.4 Time spent learning at home

On average, 34% of children increased the time spent learning at home (including home schooling) by more than three hours per day during the pandemic; while only 8% decreased it (Fig. 18; Table 24). Malta and Croatia were the Member States with the highest increase, where one in two children spent more time learning at home.



Fig. 18. Change in time spent by children learning at home (including home schooling), during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%), compared with an average of 3 hours per day



Member State	Decreased	Stayed the same	Increased	Don't know
ALB	7.2	63.1	26.9	2.9
AZE	6.9	76.4	11.0	5.6
BGR	4.4	66.8	16.1	12.7
СҮР	18.2	60.2	16.6	5.0
GEO	9.4	73.1	13.4	4.1
HRV	2.5	43.8	50.4	3.3
ITA	9.7	40.9	44.3	5.1
KAZ-AL	8.3	60.7	17.4	13.6
MDA	6.6	61.2	21.3	11.0
MLT	9.8	29.5	56.8	3.9
MNE	5.5	59.5	27.2	7.8
POL	5.9	42.0	48.0	4.2
PRT	10.8	45.4	38.2	5.5
ROU	3.5	51.2	41.2	4.1
SMR	8.8	41.2	41.5	8.5
SVK	6.1	50.9	36.0	6.9
UZB	12.2	62.9	19.6	5.3
AVG	0.0	50.0	24.5	5.0

Table 24. Change in time spent by children learning at home (including home schooling), if more than three hours/day, during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)

5. Parents' perception of their children's weight status

5.1 Parents' perception of their children's weight status

Parents were asked how they perceived their children's weight status both during and before the pandemic period: as underweight, normal weight, a little overweight or extremely overweight.

Over the period, the percentage of children perceived as a normal weight dropped from 82–73%, whereas those perceived as overweight doubled, from 8 to 16% (Fig. 19; Table 25). The percentage of parents who perceived their child as overweight almost doubled everywhere, with the highest rises recorded in Albania, Malta, Italy and Romania (more than double) and the lowest in Croatia, Georgia, Poland and Slovakia (Fig. 20; Table 25).



Fig. 19. Parents' perception of their children's weight status during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (%)





	Pre-pandemic period				Pandemic period			
Member State	Underweight	Normal weight	Little overweight	Extremely overweight	Underweight	Normal weight	Little overweight	Extremely overweight
ALB	7.6	86.1	6.0	0.3	6.4	78.8	13.7	1.1
AZE	20.7	72.9	5.6	0.8	19.8	67.8	10.7	1.7
BGR	5.9	87.1	6.6	0.4	5.1	81.8	12.2	0.9
СҮР	8.3	82.5	8.9	0.3	6.9	74.8	17.3	1.0
GEO	8.1	84.8	6.8	0.3	8.1	79.7	11.4	0.8
HRV	1.7	89.5	8.3	0.5	1.3	83.8	13.9	1.0
ITA	6.3	83.5	9.8	0.4	5.7	69.4	23.3	1.6
KAZ-AL	15.8	79.5	4.4	0.2	18.6	72.2	8.6	0.6
MDA	6.4	90.1	3.5	0.0	5.9	87.8	5.9	0.4
MLT	6.0	87.8	5.7	0.4	4.0	81.0	13.9	1.1
MNE	2.5	90.8	5.9	0.8	2.0	84.5	11.2	2.3
POL	7.7	80.9	10.7	0.6	6.8	73.9	15.6	3.7
PRT	5.2	86.9	7.6	0.3	4.8	80.6	13.9	0.7
ROU	5.6	85.7	8.3	0.4	3.6	77.6	18.1	0.7
SMR	9.2	79.4	7.0	4.4	7.0	70.6	17.3	5.1
SVK	2.7	90.7	6.2	0.4	2.2	86.9	10.4	0.5
UZB	18.0	79.7	2.0	0.3	25.4	70.4	3.6	0.6
AVG	10.0	82.4	7.2	0.4	11.1	73.3	14.0	1.6

Table 25. Parents' perception of their children's weight status during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period by Member State (%)

6. Children's quality of life and well-being

6.1 Children's quality of life and well-being

The study investigated how the emergence of the pandemic and its restrictive measures affected children's well-being by investigating parents' perceptions regarding a set of 10 specific behaviours and feelings that children exhibited during both the pandemic and the pre-pandemic period separately.

For most of the investigated behaviours and feelings, the situation worsened more than improved (Figs. 21–30; Tables 26–35). Overall, most Member States reported a general decline in the parents' perceived well-being of their children, with different intensities.

On average, the frequency of children having fun with friends worsened for 42% of children (Fig. 21; Table 26), as did the ability to enjoy activities in their free time (27%; Fig. 22; Table 27) and reporting "having enough time for him/herself" (19%; Fig. 23; Table 28).

Fig. 21A-B. "Has your child had fun with his/her friends?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)



Fig. 22A-B. "Has your child been able to do the things that he/she wants to do in his/her free time?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)







Fig.23A-B. "Has your child had enough time for him/herself?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)





Perceived sadness was also more frequent in the pandemic period for one out of five children (20%), although most parents still never or seldomly reported that their children were feeling this way (82%; Fig. 24; Table 29). Perceived loneliness was also experienced more frequently by one out of four children (24%; Fig. 25; Table 30).


Fig. 24A-B. "Has your child felt sad?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)









BGR

GEO

Improved situation

HRV

Fig. 25A-B. "Has your child felt lonely?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)



The reported percentages of children that very or extremely felt fit and well dropped: from around 76% prepandemic to 65% (Fig. 26; Table 31). One in four children were perceived by their parents as experiencing these positive feelings less frequently. Reporting on feeling full of energy, one in four parents reported that their children experienced this feeling less frequently (Fig. 27; Table 32).

MDA

KAZ-AL

POL

PRT

Worsened situation

ROU

UZB

AVG



Fig. 26A-B. "Has your child felt fit and well?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)





Fig. 27A-B. "Has your child felt full of energy?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)



The observed capacity to pay attention worsened in 23% of children, with a decrease of almost 10 percentage points in children who were previously observed by their parents to be very often or always able to concentrate (Fig. 28; Table 33). Additionally, the perception that their children were getting on very or extremely well at school – was reported less frequently by parents during the pandemic (Fig. 29; Table 34). According to Fig. 30 regarding parents' perceptions during the pandemic about whether or not their children felt treated fairly, the results indicated there were significant changes either before or during the pandemic period.

Fig. 28A-B. "Has your child been able to pay attention?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)







Fig. 29A-B. "Has your child got on well at school?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)^a





^a Data on parents' perception on whether their child has got on well at school were not collected in Bulgaria.

Fig. 30A-B. "Has your child felt that his/her parent(s) treated him/her fairly?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period (A, %) and change between the two periods (B, %)





Table 26. "Has your child had fun with his/her friends?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	ndemic perio	od	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	13.3	21.3	65.4	33.8	18.4	47.8	8.2	34.0
AZE	18.7	37.8	43.5	24.7	34.5	40.7	13.4	20.0
BGR	4.0	19.4	76.6	22.2	20.2	57.5	5.4	31.9
СҮР	15.7	29.9	54.4	52.3	21.9	25.9	5.0	55.0
GEO	15.0	30.2	54.8	16.8	48.2	35.0	16.7	41.1
HRV	12.7	27.5	59.8	39.3	30.8	30.0	5.3	46.2
ITA	12.9	22.1	65.0	66.6	13.8	19.6	4.9	67.4
KAZ-AL	12.6	18.8	68.6	22.6	17.5	59.9	10.5	22.7
MDA	21.5	25.9	52.6	37.8	21.4	40.8	8.4	27.8
MLT	13.5	30.4	56.1	64.9	17.6	17.6	5.8	63.8
MNE	13.4	20.1	66.5	34.6	19.9	45.4	7.9	36.6
POL	13.3	34.1	52.6	42.0	27.4	30.6	8.2	43.2
PRT	21.7	27.7	50.6	51.2	25.2	23.6	7.3	44.3
ROU	15.0	24.2	60.8	36.2	23.1	40.6	5.9	37.0
SMR	3.7	8.1	88.2	53.3	22.4	24.3	1.5	70.2
SVK	8.9	0.8	90.3	66.4	19.7	13.9	0.9	96.1
UZB	23.7	26.6	49.8	26.7	20.4	52.9	17.4	16.0
AVG	16.1	26.4	57.5	42.9	22.2	34.9	9.3	42.2

Table 27. "Has your child been able to do the things that he/she wants to do in his/her free time?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	andemic perio	od	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	8.4	24.2	67.4	15.3	24.6	60.1	15.6	24.9
AZE	16.6	34.1	49.4	18.4	30.0	51.6	16.8	15.0
BGR	2.6	24.1	73.3	6.3	21.8	71.9	11.2	15.0
СҮР	5.0	28.8	66.2	18.0	28.5	53.4	13.8	31.7
GEO	5.6	29.9	64.4	6.4	28.7	64.9	17.0	16.2
HRV	5.8	27.1	67.1	15.6	32.8	51.6	10.2	32.0
ITA	10.0	33.6	56.4	41.6	28.0	30.4	13.2	50.9
KAZ-AL	22.7	25.5	51.8	22.2	27.4	50.3	17.0	17.0
MDA	7.5	27.5	65.0	9.0	26.9	64.1	14.2	14.8
MLT	7.0	40.5	52.6	24.4	32.9	42.7	18.8	35.9
MNE	5.8	20.8	73.4	13.5	23.3	63.2	11.2	25.3
POL	2.4	35.3	62.4	5.3	36.8	57.9	8.3	15.6
PRT	5.4	36.6	58.0	10.4	37.9	51.7	13.2	21.7
ROU	7.7	26.7	65.6	15.5	28.3	56.3	10.6	25.4
SMR	3.3	20.6	76.1	38.6	26.8	34.6	8.5	56.6
SVK	2.4	0.4	97.2	12.0	0.2	87.7	5.1	22.0
UZB	28.1	12.6	59.3	29.8	12.5	57.8	14.9	16.1
AVG	11.9	27.1	61.0	22.8	25.9	51.3	12.5	26.7



Table 28. "Has your child had enough time for him/herself?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	Indemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	2.7	19.4	77.8	3.8	21.6	74.6	13.0	19.3
AZE	8.1	31.2	60.7	8.9	29.0	62.1	15.5	15.4
BGR	9.0	29.9	61.1	6.9	26.5	66.6	17.8	10.4
СҮР	4.5	31.9	63.6	5.7	28.7	65.6	17.3	16.0
GEO	6.0	35.1	58.9	5.1	31.1	63.8	21.6	15.5
HRV	2.6	26.4	71.0	4.3	27.9	67.7	12.3	19.9
ITA	5.3	38.5	56.2	7.6	33.7	58.7	23.8	22.2
KAZ-AL	67.2	17.5	15.3	61.2	18.2	20.5	19.1	11.8
MDA	11.7	32.9	55.3	10.2	31.9	57.9	16.6	12.7
MLT	7.6	42.0	50.4	8.8	36.5	54.7	23.8	18.7
MNE	1.1	12.4	86.5	1.9	14.2	83.9	9.4	18.2
POL	1.2	28.7	70.0	3.2	30.0	66.8	12.3	20.6
PRT	2.4	33.7	63.9	3.1	36.3	60.5	11.6	17.4
ROU	5.6	24.7	69.7	6.4	28.1	65.5	10.0	19.3
SMR	3.7	29.4	66.9	4.4	19.1	76.5	26.8	11.4
SVK	2.4	0.4	97.2	3.6	0.3	96.1	7.6	10.2
UZB	11.3	4.0	84.6	14.7	4.3	81.1	13.1	16.6
AVG	6.0	25.2	68.8	7.8	24.4	67.8	15.9	18.6

	Pre-	pandemic pe	riod	Pa	Indemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	87.5	9.3	3.2	82.9	13.5	3.5	17.6	15.6
AZE	92.2	5.1	2.7	89.6	7.7	2.7	12.4	12.9
BGR	96.0	2.7	1.3	90.7	7.2	2.1	6.2	11.5
СҮР	85.9	11.1	3.0	70.8	24.1	5.1	8.0	25.2
GEO	92.2	4.2	3.6	90.6	5.7	3.7	17.8	15.1
HRV	93.3	4.8	1.9	82.4	14.0	3.6	7.9	19.0
ITA	91.9	4.1	4.0	68.1	20.0	11.9	7.1	37.4
KAZ-AL	92.8	3.8	3.4	92.6	4.3	3.1	14.4	8.6
MDA	90.7	4.9	4.4	86.9	7.9	5.2	9.6	14.1
MLT	84.8	10.4	4.7	68.9	19.5	11.6	8.8	33.0
MNE	94.3	3.8	1.9	90.9	6.2	2.9	10.7	11.8
POL	93.2	5.8	1.0	80.8	16.3	2.8	8.2	17.9
PRT	93.9	4.5	1.6	85.5	11.3	3.2	8.3	17.7
ROU	89.8	6.1	4.1	81.3	12.6	6.1	8.9	18.1
SMR	80.5	12.1	7.4	52.2	27.9	19.9	4.8	57.4
SVK	94.9	0.0	5.1	85.3	0.4	14.3	5.8	17.8
UZB	93.0	2.8	4.3	93.0	2.8	4.2	12.0	7.8
AVG	92.4	4.4	3.2	81.8	12.0	6.2	9.3	20.2

 Table 29. "Has your child felt sad?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods



Table 30. "Has your child felt lonely?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	ndemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	92.6	5.4	2.0	88.7	8.4	3.0	7.7	16.0
AZE	92.9	4.0	3.1	90.1	6.0	3.9	8.1	11.5
BGR	96.7	1.9	1.4	91.0	6.3	2.7	4.5	14.8
СҮР	85.5	11.7	2.8	67.3	25.0	7.7	6.1	32.2
GEO	94.1	3.3	2.6	91.5	4.6	3.8	6.4	13.2
HRV	93.6	4.8	1.5	81.0	15.0	4.1	5.2	25.5
ITA	90.9	5.4	3.7	65.1	21.0	13.9	6.6	43.7
KAZ-AL	96.6	1.4	2.0	94.8	2.4	2.8	5.4	10.8
MDA	90.8	3.3	5.9	86.7	6.3	7.0	7.3	15.6
MLT	86.7	8.1	5.2	70.2	17.9	11.9	7.9	34.8
MNE	94.1	4.1	1.8	89.5	7.6	2.9	5.2	15.4
POL	95.3	3.8	0.9	82.2	14.2	3.6	6.1	24.2
PRT	92.1	5.9	2.1	83.8	12.5	3.8	7.7	20.8
ROU	91.0	5.2	3.9	83.6	10.5	5.8	6.8	19.6
SMR	82.0	10.3	7.7	56.3	22.1	21.7	5.9	48.2
SVK	95.0	0.1	4.9	83.2	0.2	16.6	4.6	28.4
UZB	94.1	2.8	3.1	93.9	2.8	3.4	9.3	10.5
AVG	93.0	4.1	2.9	81.7	11.5	6.8	7.1	24.2

	Pre-	pandemic pe	riod	Pa	ndemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Not at all or slightly	Moderately	Very or extremely	Not at all or slightly	Moderately	Very or extremely	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	7.6	34.1	58.2	8.6	33.1	58.3	22.2	20.6
AZE	4.4	43.3	52.2	6.0	42.0	52.0	18.0	17.7
BGR	2.9	13.6	83.5	6.9	15.8	77.3	6.9	21.4
СҮР	3.4	15.7	80.9	5.3	28.8	66.0	10.4	31.1
GEO	4.4	42.1	53.5	5.8	47.2	46.9	14.8	21.2
HRV	2.6	26.7	70.6	7.4	35.0	57.5	6.4	31.0
ITA	2.7	19.8	77.5	9.0	38.8	52.2	5.1	44.0
KAZ-AL	2.6	8.9	88.5	1.7	7.2	91.1	11.0	10.2
MDA	4.6	15.9	79.5	6.3	21.4	72.4	6.6	19.5
MLT	5.8	32.2	62.0	12.9	37.8	49.3	10.3	32.3
MNE	1.1	11.4	87.5	2.3	14.5	83.1	8.7	20.7
POL	2.0	15.4	82.7	3.9	26.1	70.0	11.7	24.8
PRT	2.6	27.0	70.4	3.7	33.5	62.8	12.3	22.2
ROU	7.4	20.1	72.6	9.5	29.9	60.6	7.3	26.6
SMR	0.7	14.0	85.3	12.1	34.2	53.7	0.4	43.0
SVK	2.0	0.4	97.7	6.0	0.6	93.4	3.8	21.3
UZB	6.5	16.6	76.9	4.8	15.4	79.8	24.2	12.0
AVG	4.1	20.3	75.6	6.4	28.5	65.1	12.4	26.3

Table 31. "Has your child felt fit and well?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods



Table 32. "Has your child felt full of energy?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	ndemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	8.8	28.4	62.7	10.9	30.6	58.5	19.0	24.1
AZE	10.7	32.7	56.6	12.7	32.3	55.0	15.6	18.7
BGR	1.6	13.2	85.2	3.5	16.6	79.9	6.9	17.7
СҮР	4.4	21.0	74.6	10.3	31.4	58.3	8.1	31.8
GEO	6.7	33.2	60.1	8.6	36.0	55.4	16.3	24.1
HRV	5.7	26.5	67.8	10.7	32.3	57.0	8.7	27.7
ITA	3.3	20.4	76.3	12.3	38.0	49.7	6.4	44.3
KAZ-AL	4.6	14.2	81.1	4.5	14.3	81.2	12.2	13.3
MDA	4.4	16.4	79.3	6.3	21.5	72.2	7.8	18.8
MLT	2.7	28.3	69.0	5.5	30.2	64.3	13.4	24.2
MNE	3.4	15.9	80.8	3.5	16.9	79.6	10.5	17.2
POL	1.7	24.5	73.8	6.7	33.4	60.0	13.0	29.1
PRT	2.2	27.4	70.4	3.6	32.5	63.9	11.7	23.8
ROU	6.2	21.8	72.0	9.1	29.2	61.7	7.4	24.1
SMR	1.5	11.8	86.8	11.0	35.7	53.3	1.8	48.9
SVK	2.1	0.3	97.6	6.1	0.5	93.4	4.1	20.0
UZB	17.7	10.4	71.9	15.1	9.4	75.5	16.1	11.4
AVG	7.0	20.0	73.0	10.5	27.1	62.3	11.1	26.8

	Pre-	pandemic pe	riod	Pa	Indemic perio	od	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	4.2	24.3	71.5	6.7	27.4	65.9	8.3	17.6
AZE	15.9	33.1	51.0	18.1	30.8	51.1	10.6	12.7
BGR	8.0	26.2	65.8	9.4	26.6	64.0	5.8	8.3
СҮР	5.3	22.9	71.8	8.5	25.8	65.8	6.3	20.6
GEO	71.1	15.3	13.6	71.7	15.2	13.1	14.5	16.1
HRV	5.6	25.8	68.6	8.5	28.7	62.8	6.5	17.0
ITA	8.8	32.2	59.0	19.3	40.3	40.5	7.3	35.0
KAZ-AL	11.4	21.7	66.9	12.8	21.2	66.0	9.4	11.1
MDA	8.3	25.7	66.1	9.6	26.7	63.7	8.7	12.1
MLT	7.5	31.9	60.6	19.0	40.1	40.9	6.5	35.5
MNE	4.2	15.5	80.3	4.9	16.6	78.5	7.2	11.2
POL	6.6	34.0	59.4	11.6	38.2	50.2	8.8	23.4
PRT	7.0	35.4	57.6	10.7	40.3	49.1	5.8	19.2
ROU	5.8	24.6	69.6	6.5	29.4	64.1	6.5	17.6
SMR	6.3	26.5	67.3	18.0	39.7	42.3	1.5	39.0
SVK	3.2	0.4	96.5	34.7	37.7	27.6	0.3	94.1
UZB	19.5	14.3	66.2	17.6	13.1	69.3	12.9	8.6
AVG	12.0	26.2	61.8	16.6	30.5	52.9	8.8	22.7

Table 33. "Has your child been able to pay attention?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparisonto the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods



Table 34. "Has your child got on well at school?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

	Pre-	pandemic pe	riod	Pa	ndemic perio	od	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Not at all or slightly	Moderately	Very or extremely	Not at all or slightly	Moderately	Very or extremely	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	3.5	30.9	65.6	5.8	35.7	58.5	6.9	17.1
AZE	6.8	54.3	38.9	8.4	55.4	36.2	6.5	10.6
BGR	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
СҮР	2.4	11.4	86.2	3.2	19.2	77.6	5.0	21.1
GEO	3.8	50.4	45.8	6.7	32.8	60.5	35.2	12.4
HRV	1.6	17.0	81.4	3.2	23.5	73.2	4.3	18.7
ITA	3.3	22.8	73.9	6.4	30.4	63.2	4.4	22.8
KAZ-AL	4.5	25.0	70.4	5.1	26.6	68.3	7.0	8.5
MDA	7.9	24.8	67.3	10.9	25.7	63.4	7.6	14.1
MLT	4.8	26.9	68.3	14.8	36.6	48.7	5.3	36.0
MNE	1.1	13.7	85.3	1.8	16.1	82.0	6.9	13.1
POL	1.0	12.0	87.1	3.4	20.2	76.5	4.4	17.6
PRT	2.4	17.5	80.2	8.0	28.8	63.2	5.7	27.9
ROU	4.7	22.1	73.1	4.4	28.7	66.9	4.8	15.9
SMR	2.6	15.1	82.4	5.9	18.4	75.7	5.1	17.3
SVK	2.4	0.2	97.3	27.5	37.3	35.2	0.5	94.5
UZB	5.0	39.1	56.0	4.4	38.1	57.5	10.4	7.4
AVG	3.6	26.4	70.0	6.0	31.9	62.1	6.6	18.6

NA: not available

	Pre-	pandemic pe	eriod	Pa	Indemic perio	bd	Change between the two periods	
Member State	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Never or seldom	Quite often	Very often or always	Improved situation	Worsened situation
ALB	4.4	15.0	80.6	5.0	16.7	78.3	10.2	12.8
AZE	6.9	20.5	72.6	8.2	19.6	72.2	9.3	10.6
BGR	1.1	5.8	93.1	1.2	5.9	92.9	3.7	3.4
СҮР	2.3	27.4	70.2	4.3	28.3	67.4	11.0	14.7
GEO	5.0	20.7	74.4	5.0	21.8	73.2	12.7	14.2
HRV	2.4	20.1	77.5	3.9	21.9	74.1	7.7	13.0
ITA	1.8	20.2	78.0	4.4	26.0	69.6	6.8	18.1
KAZ-AL	22.8	10.4	66.7	23.4	9.3	67.2	8.0	8.3
MDA	6.9	16.1	77.0	7.3	17.1	75.6	8.3	10.5
MLT	4.8	29.4	65.8	7.6	29.5	63.0	10.3	15.3
MNE	3.8	13.4	82.8	5.1	14.7	80.2	8.2	12.7
POL	4.6	19.8	75.6	7.1	25.4	67.5	6.3	17.5
PRT	3.3	26.6	70.1	5.2	29.4	65.4	5.8	12.7
ROU	4.8	16.9	78.4	4.3	19.8	75.8	8.1	13.9
SMR	1.8	18.4	79.8	7.0	22.4	70.6	2.6	16.5
SVK	4.1	0.3	95.7	5.3	0.3	94.4	5.6	7.7
UZB	16.4	8.2	75.4	16.3	7.6	76.1	12.5	11.8
AVC	6.5	16.2	77.0	7.0	10.2	72 1	0.2	14.2

Table 35. "Has your child felt that his/her parent(s) treated him/her fairly?": parents' perception during the pandemic in comparison to the pre-pandemic period and change between the two periods

Conclusion

During the COVID-19 pandemic, most of the 17 participating Member States from the WHO European Region observed an increase rather than a decrease in the consumption of healthy foods such as fresh fruits and vegetables; however, higher consumption was also observed in unhealthy foods such as savoury snacks and sweets. Physical activity among children decreased by almost 30% during weekdays compared with the pre-pandemic period and approximately one third of children increased time spent watching TV, playing video/computer games or using social media for non-educational purposes during the pandemic period. The findings also highlighted the negative impact that the pandemic has had on children's well-being, which has the potential to further impact their lifestyles and behaviours. These findings corroborate other findings, showing that the pandemic has adversely affected the health of children globally, including through increased intake of unhealthy food and physical inactivity (25,40,41).

The pandemic taught several sobering lessons about the link between obesity/overweight and COVID-19: (i) people with obesity/overweight did not have access to management services during the pandemic which may have exacerbated their disease; (ii) COVID-19 patients who also affected by obesity/overweight experienced worse outcomes, including ICU admissions and mortality; and (iii) the stress of the pandemic, its economic consequences and disruptions to daily life increased the exposure to obesity/overweight-related risk factors including unhealthy diets and physical inactivity (*25,42*). Furthermore, COVID-19-related school closures were likely to disrupt exposure to the healthy food- and physical-activity environments of schools, putting children at increased risk of overweight/obesity during the pandemic (*13*).

These observations underscore the need to provide support to Member States in order to respond to and manage the negative consequences from the pandemic, as well as to better prepare for future emergencies. It is crucial that emergency preparedness plans for the future include consideration of NCD risk factors – ensuring that children continue to have access to nutritious food and opportunities for physical activity. Often, these considerations are lost as public health experts respond to more acute problems that the emergency brings, but for the long-term benefit of the population it is important that following questions are addressed:

- how can we ensure that when children stay home from school that they continue to have opportunities to be active? (43)
- how do we ensure that they continue to have access to healthy foods?
- what kinds of resources can be developed now, to prepare for the future?

Reducing childhood obesity and overweight in the WHO European Region will require a comprehensive approach that promotes healthy diets and physical activity across the life course, as well as pre-conception and pregnancy care and weight management programmes where necessary. Obesity prevention and management necessitates multisectoral policies and actions implemented through a coordinated whole-of-society approach with a range of ministries and partnerships. WHO has identified a range of policy options which can help create environments where children have access to healthy foods, opportunities for physical activity and the structural support that is required to maintain a healthy weight. A whole-of-society approach also requires actions at subnational and local levels and can include collaboration with the community and organizations working towards a common goal (44,45).

Promising areas for intervention include addressing the commercial determinants of health, which play a large role in shaping food environments. Possible areas for policy intervention include marketing restrictions of unhealthy products or front of pack nutrition labelling, which can lead to reformulation of foods high in fats, sugar and salt; fiscal policies (including both taxes and subsidies); and public food procurement (46). Encouraging physical activity will require multisectoral efforts to create active societies by enhancing knowledge and understanding of the benefits of regular physical activity, active environments that give all people access to safe places and spaces to engage in physical activity, active people through the creation of programmes across settings including schools to promote physical activity and active systems to create and strengthen leadership, governance, multisectoral partnerships, workforce capabilities and advocacy efforts (47,48).

Young people have a critical role to play in the unprecedented challenges that the world is facing today. They should be active participants in shaping their lives and directing their futures. The EU project "Confronting obesity: co-creating policy with youth" (CO-CREATE), developed in collaboration between the Norwegian Institute of Public Health, the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of NCDs and 14 international research and advocacy organizations, helped to advance this area, engaging young people in the policy process and providing a range of resources and tools for their involvement. The tools developed in this project should be integrated into future policy efforts, including ideas about how to ensure that in any future pandemic, children and young people can be better protected from the adverse effects of school disruptions and online learning (49).

Necessary policy considerations to mitigate impact on children's well-being include delivery of universal mental health promotion and prevention activities for school-aged children, expanding access to family and parenting support initiatives and identifying opportunities for provision of accessible psychosocial support within community and primary health-care settings. In addition, policy considerations to mitigate impact on children's well-being should include actions that address the full spectrum of interventions across mental health promotion, illness prevention and treatment: targeting individual children and families, but also aimed at the community and systems levels and addressing individual risk and protective factors as well as social and structural determinants of well-being. Health and education sector actions can include delivery of universal mental health promotion/prevention activities for school-aged children, expanding access to family and parenting support initiatives, identifying opportunities for provision of accessible psychosocial support within community and primary health-care settings, and building the protection of mental health and well-being into future pandemic response plans. Broader social and environmental actions to address the drivers of well-being include investment in social protection to prevent income, housing, food and fuel insecurity for families and communities, and to prevent the accumulation of adverse childhood experiences (50).

The SNI is committed to supporting Member States in taking comprehensive, integrated, multisectoral action to halt the rise of childhood obesity in the WHO European Region. It is also essential to use the lessons learned from this study to prepare for future pandemics and emergencies in the Region and safeguard children's health. Data from the COSI project are crucial for defining the problem of obesity and overweight, informing policy action, drawing comparisons between Member States and tracking progress over time.

References

1. Abarca-Gómez L, Abdeen Z, Hamid Z, Abu-Rmeileh N, Acosta-Cazares B, Acuin C et al. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC): worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, adults. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2627–42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3.

2. Report of the commission on ending childhood obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/204176, accessed 11 January 2024).

3. Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative: factsheet. Highlights 2015–17. In: WHO/Andorra/Publications/Overview. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://www.who.int/andorra/publications/m/item/childhood-obesity-surveillance-initiative-(cosi)-factsheet.-highlights-2015-17, accessed 15 January 2024).

4. European Programme of Work, 2020–2025: United Action for Better Health in Europe [website]. In: WHO/Europe/Our work. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020 (https://www.who.int/europe/about-us/our-work/european-programme-of-work, accessed 27 January 2025).

5. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic: overview [website]. In: WHO/Europe/Situations. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2024 (https://www.who.int/europe/emergencies/situations/covid-19, accessed 11 January 2024).

6. Flattening the covid-19 peak: containment and mitigation policies. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2020 (https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=124_124999-yt5ggxirhc&title=Flattening_the_COVID-19_peak-Containment_and_mitigation_policies, accessed 11 January 2024).

7. Cascini F, Failla G, Gobbi C, Pallini E, Hui J, Luxi W et al. A cross-country comparison of Covid-19 containment measures and their effects on the epidemic curves. BMC Public Health. 2022;22(1):1765. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-14088-7.

8. Bakaloudi DR, Barazzoni R, Bischoff SC, Breda J, Wickramasinghe K, Chourdakis M. Impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown on body weight: a combined systematic review and a meta-analysis. Clin Nutr. 2022;41(12):3046–3054. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.04.015.

9. Considering the impact of COVID-19 on children [website]. In: WHO/Europe/Activities. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2024 (https://www.who.int/europe/activities/considering-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-children, accessed 11 January 2024).

10. Okely AD et al. Global effect of COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep among 3- to 5-year-old children: a longitudinal study of 14 countries. BMC Public Health. 2021;21(1):940. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10852-3.

11. Bates LC, Zieff G, Stanford K, Moore JB, Kerr ZY, Hanson ED et al. COVID-19 Impact on behaviors across the 24-hour day in children and adolescents: physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep. Children (Basel). 2020;7(9):138. doi:10.3390/children7090138.

12.Pourghazi F, Eslami M, Ehsani A, Ejtahed HS, Qorbani M. Eating habits of children and adolescents during the COVID-19 era: a systematic review. Front Nutr. 2022;9:1004953. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1004953.

13. Rundle AG, Park Y, Herbstman JB, Kinsey EW, Wang YC. COVID-19-related school closings and risk of weight gain among children. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2020;28(6):1008–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22813.

14. Improving the mental and brain health of children and adolescents [website]. In: WHO/Activities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 (https://www.who.int/activities/improving-the-mental-and-brain-health-of-children-and-adolescents, accessed 11 January 2024).

15. Araújo LA, Veloso CF, Souza MC, Azevedo JMC, Tarro G. The potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child growth and development: a systematic review. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2021;97(4):369–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2020.08.008.

16. Samji H, Wu J, Ladak A, Vossen C, Stewart E, Dove N et al. Review: mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and youth - a systematic review. Child and adolescent mental health 2022;27(2):173–189. doi: 10.1111/camh.12501.

17.Fong VC, Iarocci G. Child and family outcomes following pandemics: a systematic review and recommendations on COVID-19 policies. J Pediatr Psychol. 2020;45(10):1124–43. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa092.

18. Francisco R, Pedro M, Delvecchio E, Espada JP, Morales A, Mazzeschi C et al. Psychological symptoms and behavioral changes in children and adolescents during the early phase of COVID-19 quarantine in three European countries. Front Psychiatry. 2020;11:570164. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.570164.

19. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Lancet Physical Activity Series Working Group et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet. 2012;380(9838):219–29. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9.

21. Janssen I, LeBlanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2010;7:40.



22. Dolezal BA, Neufeld EV, Boland DM, Martin JL, Cooper CB. Interrelationship between sleep and exercise: a systematic review. Adv Prev Med. 2017;2017:1364387. doi: 10.1155/2017/1364387.

23. Tremblay MS, LeBlanc AG, Kho ME, Saunders TJ, Larouche R, Colley RC, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2011;8:98. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-98.

24. Report on the fifth round of data collection, 2018-2020: WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI). Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2022 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/363950, accessed 15 January 2024).

25. Kovacs VA, Starc G, Brandes M, Kaj M, Blagus R, Leskošek B et al. Physical activity, screen time and the COVID-19 school closures in Europe: an observational study in 10 countries. Eur J Sport Sci. 2022;22(7):1094–1103. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2021.1897166.

26. King AJ, Burke LM, Halson SL, Hawley JA. The challenge of maintaining metabolic health during a global pandemic. Sports Med (Auckland). 2020;50(7):1233–41. doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01295-8.

27. Runacres A, Mackintosh KA, Knight RL, Sheeran L, Thatcher R, Shelley J, McNarry MA. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on sedentary time and behaviour in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(21):11286. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111286.

28. Neville RD, Lakes KD, Hopkins WG, Tarantino G, Draper CE, Beck R, Madigan S. Global changes in child and adolescent physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2022;176(9):886–94. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.2313.

29. Park MH, Falconer C, Viner RM, Kinra S. The impact of childhood obesity on morbidity and mortality in adulthood: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2012;13(11):985–1000. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01015.x.

30. Obesity and overweight [website]. In: WHO/Newsroom/Fact sheets/Detail. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/, accessed 11 January 2024).

31. Mignogna C, Costanzo S, Ghulam A, Cerletti C, Donati MB, de Gaetano G et al. Impact of nationwide lockdowns resulting from the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic on food intake, eating behaviors, and diet quality: a systematic review. Adv Nutr. 2022;13(2):388–423. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmab130.

32. Brakspear L, Boules D, Nicholls D, Burmester V. The impact of COVID-19-related living restrictions on eating behaviours in children and adolescents: a systematic review. Nutrients. 2022;14(17):3657. doi: 10.3390/nu14173657.

33. Martin A, Markhvida M, Hallegatte S, Walsh B. Socio-economic impacts of COVID-19 on household consumption and poverty. Econ Disaster Clim Chang. 2020;4(3):453–79. doi: 10.1007/s41885-020-00070-3.

34. Almeida V, Barrios S, Christl M, De Poli S, Tumino A, van der Wielen W. The impact of COVID-19 on households' income in the EU. J Econ Inequal. 2021;19(3):413–31. doi: 10.1007/s10888-021-09485-8.

35. Adams EL, Caccavale LJ, Smith D, Bean MK. Food insecurity, the home food environment, and parent feeding practices in the era of COVID-19. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2020;28(11):2056–63. doi: 10.1002/oby.22996.

36. Niles MT, Bertmann F, Belarmino EH, Wentworth T, Biehl E, Neff R. The early food insecurity impacts of COVID-19. Nutrients. 2020;12(7):2096. doi: 10.3390/nu12072096.

37. Breda J, McColl K, Buoncristiano M, Williams J, Abdrakhmanova Z, Abdurrahmonova Z et al. Methodology and implementation of the WHO childhood obesity surveillance initiative (COSI). Obes Rev. 2021;22(suppl 6):e13215. doi: 10.1111/obr.13215.

38. Schuch FB, Vancampfort D, Richards J, Rosenbaum S, Ward PB, Stubbs B. Exercise as a treatment for depression: a metaanalysis adjusting for publication bias. J Psychiatr Res. 2016;77:42–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.02.023.

39. Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI): protocol 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.euro.who. int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/nutrition/publications/2017/childhood-obesity-surveillance-initiative-cosi-protocol-2016, accessed 11 January 2024).

40. Jha S, Mehendale AM. Increased incidence of obesity in children and adolescents post-covid-19 pandemic: a review article. Cureus. 2022;14(9):e29348. doi: 10.7759/cureus.29348.

41. Ochoa-Moreno I, Taheem R, Woods-Townsend K, Chase D, Godfrey KM, Modi N et al. Projected health and economic effects of the increase in childhood obesity during the COVID-19 pandemic in England: the potential cost of inaction. PLoS One. 2024;19(1):e0296013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0296013.

42 Rippin HL, Wickramasinghe K, Halloran A et al. Disrupted food systems in the WHO European region – a threat or opportunity for healthy and sustainable food and nutrition? Food Sec. 2020;12:859–64.



43. Varela AR, Sallis R, Rowlands AV, Sallis JF. Physical inactivity and COVID-19: When Pandemics Collide. J Phys Act Health. 2021;18(10):1159-60. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2021-0454.

44. WHO European Regional Obesity Report 2022. Geneva: World Health Organization; Regional Office for Europe (https://iris.who. int/handle/10665/353747, accessed 11 January 2024).

45. WHO acceleration plan to stop obesity. Geneva. World Health Organization; 2023 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/370281, accessed 15 January 2024).

46. Monitoring and restricting digital marketing of unhealthy products to children and adolescents: report based on the expert meeting on monitoring of digital marketing of unhealthy products to children and adolescents; Moscow, Russian Federation, June 2018. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346585, accessed 15 January 2024).

47. Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030: more active people for a healthier world. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/272722, accessed 15 January 2024).

48. Promoting physical activity through schools: a toolkit. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/350836, accessed 15 January 2024).

49. Co-create [website]. London: World Obesity Federation; 2024 (https://www.worldobesity.org/what-we-do/projects/co-create, accessed 15 January 2024).

50. Finding common ground between health, central banks and finance: WHO draft for consultation. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/librariesprovider2/euro-health-topics/social-determinants/finding-common-ground-between-health-central-banks-and-finance.pdf?sfvrsn=36feb16e_1&download=true, accessed 15 January 2024).

The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

Member States

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan Belarus Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Croatia Cyprus Czechia Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro Netherlands (Kingdom of the) North Macedonia Norway Poland Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania **Russian Federation** San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Türkiye Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom Uzbekistan

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 Email: eurocontact@who.int Website: www.who.int/europe